

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 906 / JUNE 2008

THE IMPACT OF THE EURO ON EQUITY MARKETS

A COUNTRY AND SECTOR DECOMPOSITION

by Lorenzo Cappiello, Arjan Kadareja and Simone Manganelli











NO 906 / JUNE 2008

THE IMPACT OF THE EURO ON EQUITY MARKETS

A COUNTRY AND SECTOR DECOMPOSITION'

by Lorenzo Cappiello², Arjan Kadareja³ and Simone Manganelli⁴



This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=1138602.

In 2008 all ECB publications feature a motif taken from the €10 banknote.



 We would like to thank for comments and suggestions Carsten Detken, Michael Ehrmann, Vitor Gaspar, Bruno Gérard, Philipp Hartmann, Francesco Mongelli, Juan Luis Vega and Xavier Vives. Any views expressed in this paper are only the ones of the authors and should not be interpreted as the views of the ECB, the Eurosystem, the Bank of Albania or the University of New York at Tirana (Albania).
 DG-Economics, European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: lorenzo.capiello@ecb.europa.eu; tel.: +49-69-1344 8765

3 Bank of Albania and University of New York at Tirana; Address: Sheshi, Skenderbej I, Tirana, Albania; e-mail: kadareja@yahoo.com

4 DG-Research, European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: simone.manganelli@ecb.europa.eu; tel.: +49-69-1344 7347.

© European Central Bank, 2008

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Website http://www.ecb.europa.eu

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.europa. eu/pub/scientific/wps/date/html/index. en.html

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract			4
Executive summary			5
1	Introduction		
2	Asset return correlation and financial integration		
3	The empirical methodology		12
	3.1	The comovement box	13
	3.2	Regional versus global factors	16
	3.3	The comovement box with a global factor	18
4	Data		20
5	Mor	te Carlo simulation	21
6	Structural changes in comovements		22
	6.1	The introduction of the euro and the	
		comovements in national equity markets	22
	6.2	Controlling for global factors	25
	6.3	A sectoral decomposition	26
7	Conclusions		28
8 Technical appendix		nnical appendix	29
	8.1	Time-varying regression quantiles	29
		Estimation of the conditional probability	
		of comovement	30
	8.3	Hypothesis testing	33
References			34
Tables and figures			38
European Central Bank Working Paper Series			51

Abstract

This paper investigates whether comovements between euro area equity returns at national and industry level have changed after the introduction of the euro. By adopting a regression quantile-based methodology, we find that after 1999 the degree of comovements among euro area national equity markets has augmented. By explicitly controlling for the impact of global factors, we show that this result cannot be explained away by recent world-wide trends. A more refined analysis based on an industry breakdown suggests that the increase in national index comovements is mainly driven by financial, industrials and consumer services sectors.

Keywords: National and industry equity returns, euro, conditional comovements, regression quantiles

JEL classification: F36, G15, C22

Executive Summary

The convergence of nominal interest rates, inflation rates, fiscal budget deficit and debt to GDP ratios fostered by the Maastricht Treaty paved the way to a common monetary policy within the euro zone economies. This convergence process has culminated in the launch of the euro in January 1999. The introduction of the single currency has generated a large debate among researchers, policy makers and market participants about the impact of the euro on the degree of integration of European financial markets.

While euro area money markets and government bond markets have become increasingly integrated, which is shown by the convergence of overnight interest rates and bond yields, respectively, as for equity markets, the impact of the euro is harder to assess. This is due to the impossibility of directly compare equity returns.

The goal of this paper is to investigate whether comovements between euro area equity returns both at national and industry level have increased after the introduction of the euro. The underlying hypothesis is that since, with a common monetary policy, exchange rates cannot cushion any longer adverse shocks, business cycles become more synchronised, and regulatory harmonization steadily progresses, firms' cash flows are more subject to common factors. *Ceteris paribus* this should imply an increase in comovements of equity returns.

To assess whether the degree of financial integration has been enhanced by the introduction of the euro, we adopt a new methodology based on quantile regression. We evaluate comovements by estimating the probability that the returns on two different markets exceed simoultaneously a given quantile. Comovements are computed before and after the launch of the single currency. If comovements increase after January 1999, this indicates that markets become more integrated. The advantage of our approach is that it is robust to heteroskedasticity biases and departure from normality, which typically plague financial data. Furthermore, it allows to draw precise statistical inferences about the impact of the euro.

The national indices used in the analysis include: (i) euro area countries, Germany, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Spain, Austria, Belgium, Finland, Greece, Ireland, Portugal, and (ii) EU non-euro area economies, Denmark, Sweden and the UK. When evaluating whether the degree of comovement among euro area economies has increased after the introduction of the euro, we find that this is the case. Interestingly, comovements increase significantly also for country pairs involving the UK, Denmark and Sweden, which are members of the European Union, but have not joined the euro area. This may be due to the strong economic ties of these economies with the euro area. Alternatively, this finding can indicate that global factors - rather than a common currency - may be responsible for the observed increase in comovements.

To distinguish between these alternative hypothesis, we introduce a variable that controls for the impact of global factors. This permits to assess to which extent the change in comovements are driven by world-wide trends in addition to eurospecific factors. Our findings show that the increase in the degree of comovement is robust to the introduction of controls for global trends.

In line with previous studies (see, for instance, Carrieri, Errunza and Sarkissian 2004, Sontchik 2004, Bekaert, Hodrick and Zhang 2005, and Eiling, Gérard and de Roon 2005), we also analyse to what extent comovements are driven by specific industries' dynamics. The idea is that lack of changes in comovements at national level may mask offsetting changes in comovements at the sectoral level. Alternatively, it is also possible that greater comovements are due to the increasing importance of sectors more sensitive to common shocks. Once controlling for global factors, we document that after the introduction of the euro the comovements of the financial, industrials and consumer services sectors have significantly increased, while comovements of health care and consumer goods industries have augmented less.

1 Introduction

The convergence of nominal interest rates, inflation rates, fiscal budget deficit and debt to GDP ratios fostered by the Maastricht Treaty paved the way to a common monetary policy within the euro zone economies. This convergence process has culminated in the launch of the euro in January 1999. The introduction of the single currency has generated a large debate among researchers, policy makers and market participants about the impact of the euro on European financial markets.¹

A number of contributions have attempted to quantify this impact (see, for instance, Baele et al., 2004, Eiling, Gérard and de Roon, 2005, Hardouvelis, Malliaropulos and Priestley, 2006 and 2007, and European Central Bank, 2008). A common finding is that euro area money markets have become fully integrated, as shown by the convergence of overnight interest rates. Government bond markets are also characterised by a high degree of integration, exhibiting a pronounced yield convergence. As for equity markets, the impact of the euro is harder to assess, as equity returns are not directly comparable. In principle, firms' cash flows will be more exposed to common factors, as exchange rates cannot cushion any longer adverse shocks, business cycles have become more synchronised, and regulatory harmonization has steadily progressed. *Ceteris paribus* this should imply an increase in comovements of equity returns.

By analysing return dynamics, this paper investigates whether there is evidence against this hypothesis. Using the regression quantile-based methodology developed by Cappiello, Gérard and Manganelli (2005), we document an increase in comovements between the euro area equity returns both at national and industry levels.

A large body of literature has developed over the years to measure the codependence among financial asset returns (see, for instance, the surveys of Pericoli and Sbracia, 2003, and Dungey, Fry, Gonzáles-Hermosillo and Martin, 2005). In essence, one can distinguish between two different approaches: modelling first and/or second moments of returns (see, for instance, King, Sentana and Wadhwani, 1994,

¹Strictly speaking, we cannot distinguish between the impact of the introduction of the single currency from the lagged effects of the structural reforms that have led to the common monetary policy in the euro zone.

Forbes and Rigobon, 2002, Ciccarelli and Rebucci, 2007, and Eiling and Gérard, 2007), and estimating the probability of co-exceedance (see, among others, Longin and Solnik, 2001, Bae, Karolyi and Stulz, 2003, and Hartmann, Straetmans and de Vries, 2004). Each of these methodologies suffers from several drawbacks. Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedastic (GARCH)-type approaches and dynamic correlation-based models assume that realizations in the upper and lower tail of the distribution are generated by the same process. Probability models generally analyse only single points of the support of the distribution and adopt a two-step estimation procedure, often without correcting the standard errors.

Our methodology offers a novel approach to study comovements and possesses a number of advantages. First, it is robust to departure from normality and the well-know heteroskedasticity problem that plagues naïve correlation measures (see, for instance, Forbes and Rigobon, 2002). Second, it permits to test for asymmetries in comovement in the positive and negative parts of the distribution. Third, it is suited to analyse changes in correlations over the long run. Finally, being based on quantiles, it provides estimates of comovements robust to outliers, as opposed to conventional, average-based measures (Kim and White, 2004).

This paper estimates the probabilities of comovements between equity markets before and after the introduction of the euro. We find that after 1999 the degree of comovement among euro area economies has increased. Interestingly, comovements increase significantly also for country pairs involving the UK, Denmark and Sweden, which are members of the European Union, but have not joined the euro area. This may be due to the strong economic ties of these economies with the euro area. Alternatively, this finding can indicate that global factors - rather than a common currency - may be responsible for the observed increase in comovements.

To distinguish between these alternative hypothesis, we introduce a variable that controls for the impact of global factors. This permits to assess to which extent changes in comovements are driven by world-wide trends in addition to euro-specific factors. Our findings show that the increase in the degree of comovement is robust to the introduction of controls for global trends.

We also analyse to what extent comovements are driven by specific industries'

dynamics (see among others Carrieri, Errunza and Sarkissian 2004, Sontchik 2004, Bekaert, Hodrick and Zhang 2005, Eiling, Gérard and de Roon 2005, and Cappiello, Lo Duca and Maddaloni, 2008). Lack of changes in comovements at national level may mask offsetting changes in comovements at the sectoral level. This occurs, for instance, when within the same national indices some industries exhibit a relatively high (and others a relatively low) level of correlation. It is also possible that greater comovements are due to the increasing importance of sectors more sensitive to common shocks (see, for instance, Griffin and Karolyi, 1998, and Brooks and Del Negro, 2006). We address these issues re-estimating the model with a sectoral breakdown. After controlling for global factors, we document that comovements increased in coincidence of the introduction of the euro in the financial, industrials and consumer services sectors, while they remained largely unchanged in the health care and consumer goods industries.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2 explains the links between financial integration and comovements. Section 3 describes the econometric methodology. Section 4 discusses the data. Section 5 describes a Monte Carlo simulation. Section 6 presents the results and section 7 concludes. The technical details about the econometrics underlying the paper are reported in the appendix.

2 Asset return correlation and financial integration

As is well recognised in financial economics, accurate measures of comovements are important for portfolio allocation, risk management, and assessment about financial contagion. Estimates of comovements are also becoming increasingly important to evaluate the degree of financial integration. Previous research has proposed at least two approaches to measuring time-varying market integration. One strand of the literature exploits the implication of asset pricing models: markets are said to be integrated when only common risk factors are priced and (partially) segmented when local risk factors also determine equilibrium returns (see, for example, Stulz, 1981, Adler and Dumas, 1983, Errunza and Losq, 1985, and Flood and Rose, 2005). A second group of studies relate market and economic integration to a strengthening of the financial and real linkages between economies (see, *inter alia*, Dumas, Harvey and Ruiz, 2003). Typically, the first group of studies are highly parameterised and require sophisticated asset pricing tests (examples are given by Bekaert and Harvey, 1995 and 1997, Rockinger and Urga, 2001, Gérard, Thanyalakpark and Batten, 2003, Carrieri, Errunza and Sarkissian, 2004, and Hardouvelis, Malliaropulos and Priestley, 2006 and 2007, and Cappiello, Lo Duca and Maddaloni, 2008). Estimates of the second group, instead, are usually conducted by investigating changes in comovements across countries between selected financial asset returns (see, for instance, Dumas, Harvey and Ruiz, 2003, and Aydemir, 2005). A possible problem inherent in these two approaches is that the choice of the asset pricing or more generally the economic model may affect the final results.

In two related papers, Cappiello, Gérard, Kadareja and Manganelli (2006) and Eiling and Gérard (2007) show that measures of comovements are linked to indicators of financial integration. The two studies measure financial integration exploiting the implications derived from a factor model: as long as the share of national firms' returns volatility is increasingly explained by common rather than local factors, the degree of integration augments. Advantageously, both approaches do not require the specification of common (and local) factors and, importantly, address the issue of time-varying volatility.

As shown by Cappiello et al. (2006), there is a relationship between integration and standard correlation measures. The relationship is derived from a model for returns which distinguishes between common and idiosyncratic factors. Progress in integration is associated with an increase in the proportion of returns' variance explained by the common factors $vis-\dot{a}-vis$ country-specific factors.

This reflects the intuition that, as a country moves from being closed to an open status, the impact of foreign factors on domestic firms' cash flows increases. Hence the removal of trade barriers and the elimination of exchange rate risk within a region should be accompanied by an increase in comovements of firms returns. In short, increased comovements in financial asset returns are consistent with greater integration and economic interdependence. To formalise this intuition, we model returns in a national market as follows:

$$r_{i,t} = \omega_{ij,t} G_{ij,t} + e_{i,t}, \quad \forall i \text{ and } j, \tag{1}$$

where $r_{i,t}$ is the return on market i, $\omega_{ij,t}$ the exposure at time t of market i to the common factor $G_{ij,t}$, and $e_{i,t}$ the idiosyncratic risk of market i assumed to be orthogonal to the common factor and to asset j idiosyncratic risk.² The sufficient set of statistics for the factor model (1) can be summarised as follows: $E(G_{ij,t}) = 0$ $\forall t, E(G_{ij,t}^2) = \sigma_{G_{ij,t}}^2, E(e_{i,t}) = E(e_{j,t}) = 0 \ \forall t, E(e_{i,t}^2) = \sigma_{e_{i,t}}^2, E(e_{j,t}^2) = \sigma_{e_{j,t}}^2,$ $E(e_{i,t}, e_{i,s}) = 0 \ \forall t \neq s, E(e_{i,t}, e_{j,s}) = 0 \ \forall i \neq j \text{ and } \forall t \text{ and } s, E(e_{i,t}, G_{ij,t}) = E(e_{j,t}, G_{ij,t}) = 0 \ \forall t.$

It is possible, in principle, to explain the idiosyncratic risk in terms of local factors, i.e. $e_{i,t} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \gamma_{k,t} F_{k,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$. From an asset pricing perspective, we can say that markets are perfectly integrated if only the common factor is priced, i.e. $\omega_{ij,t} \neq 0$ and $\gamma_{k,t} = 0$ for all k. On the other hand, markets would be perfectly segmented if $\omega_{ij,t} = 0$.

The variance of country *i*'s returns can be decomposed as $\sigma_{r_{i,t}}^2 = \omega_{ij,t}^2 \sigma_{G_{ij,t}}^2 + \sigma_{e_{i,t}}^2$. The share of volatility explained by the common factor is $\phi_{ij,t} \equiv \frac{\omega_{ij,t} \sigma_{G_{ij,t}}}{\sigma_{r_{i,t}}}$. Consistently with this discussion, we adopt the following measure of integration between markets *i* and *j*:

$$\Phi_{ij,t} \equiv \phi_{ij,t}\phi_{ji,t}.$$
(2)

If markets are perfectly segmented the volatility explained by the common factor is equal to zero and therefore $\Phi_{ij,t} = 0$ (because $\phi_{ij,t} = 0$ and/or $\phi_{ji,t} = 0$). On the other hand, if markets are perfectly integrated, most of the source of variation will come from the common factor, implying a strictly positive $\Phi_{ij,t}$.³ In general, for a given level of idiosyncratic volatility, higher values of $\Phi_{ij,t}$ imply a higher degree of integration.

As suggested by Cappiello et al. (2006), it is straightforward to show that the

 $^{{}^{2}}G_{ij,t}$ includes all the common components specific to markets *i* and *j*. Notice that different market pairs may have distinct common factors.

³We assume that the factor loading coefficients of the common factor are positive. Analogous but opposite conclusion would hold if $sign(\beta_{ij,t}) \neq sign(\beta_{ji,t})$.

measure of integration (2) coincides with the linear correlation coefficient:

$$\rho_{ij,t} = \frac{\sigma_{r_i r_j,t}}{\sigma_{r_{i,t}} \sigma_{r_{j,t}}}$$

$$= \Phi_{ij,t} \quad \forall i, j \text{ and } i \neq j,$$
(3)

where $\sigma_{r_i r_j,t} = \omega_{ij,t} \omega_{ji,t} \sigma_{G_{ij,t}}^2$. If market *i* and *j* become more integrated, the correlation between returns on an asset in market *i* and *j* will increase.

3 The empirical methodology

To assess whether the degree of integration between two markets varies after the introduction of the euro, it is necessary to test for changes in correlations. These tests need to account, *inter alia*, for time variation in the moments of the returns distribution and departure from normality. Since changes in volatilities before and after the introduction of the euro could result in an estimation bias, a simple comparison between correlations over the two periods could lead to a spurious outcome. To solve this issue, we use a modelling strategy based on the "comovement box" of Cappiello, Gérard and Manganelli (2005). The approach is robust to heteroscedasticity, is semi-parametric, does not need any assumption on the distribution of returns and provides a direct test for changes in correlation before and after the introduction of the euro. Moreover, this methodology permits to control for (global) factors which, in fact, may be the ultimate responsible of comovements between assets.

GARCH-type models could constitute an alternative empirical methodology to the comovement box. GARCH processes are also robust to volatility changes. However, differently from the comovement box approach they are fully parametric and estimate correlation at a relatively high frequency.

Eiling and Gérard (2007) propose a nonparametric measure of instantaneous correlation based on cross-sectional dispersion and realised variance. The resulting time series of correlations are then treated as observable, which permits to test for trends and structural breaks. This approach rests on the assumption that all the countries in a region have the same factor exposure and that the idiosyncratic country risk is diversified in the (equally weighted) regional portfolios, which requires a large cross-section. Our framework, instead, does not rely on the assumption of equal factor exposure and allows to analyse comovements between any country pairs (as opposed to regions). Furthermore, being based on quantiles our measures of comovements are robust to possible outliers, which are typical of financial time series.

3.1 The comovement box

Let $\{r_{i,t}\}_{t=1}^{T}$ and $\{r_{j,t}\}_{t=1}^{T}$ denote the time series returns of two different markets. Let $q_{\theta,t}^{i}$ be the time $t \theta$ -quantile of the conditional distribution of $r_{i,t}$. Analogously, for $r_{j,t}$, we define $q_{\theta,t}^{j}$.

Denote the conditional cumulative joint distribution of the two return series by $F_t(r_i, r_j)$. Define $F_t^-(r_i|r_j) \equiv \Pr(r_{i,t} \leq r_i \mid r_{j,t} \leq r_j)$ and $F_t^+(r_i|r_j) \equiv \Pr(r_{i,t} \geq r_i \mid r_{j,t} \geq r_j)$. Our basic tool of analysis is the following conditional probability:

$$p_t(\theta) \equiv \begin{cases} F_t^-\left(q_{\theta,t}^i|q_{\theta,t}^j\right) \equiv \Pr(r_{i,t} \le q_{\theta,t}^i \mid r_{j,t} \le q_{\theta,t}^j) & \text{if } \theta \le 0.5\\ F_t^+\left(q_{\theta,t}^i|q_{\theta,t}^j\right) \equiv \Pr(r_{i,t} \ge q_{\theta,t}^i \mid r_{j,t} \ge q_{\theta,t}^j) & \text{if } \theta > 0.5 \end{cases}$$
(4)

This conditional probability represents an effective way to summarizes the characteristics of $F_t(r_i, r_j)$. For each quantile θ , $p_t(\theta)$ measures the probability that, at time t, the return on market i will fall below (or above) its θ -quantile, conditional on the same event occurring in market j.

The characteristics of $p_t(\theta)$ can be conveniently analysed in what we call the comovement box (see Figure 1). The comovement box is a square with unit side, where $p_t(\theta)$ is plotted against θ . The shape of $p_t(\theta)$ will generally depend on the characteristics of the joint distribution of the time series returns $r_{i,t}$ and $r_{j,t}$, and therefore for generic distributions it can be derived only by numerical simulation. There are, however, three important special cases that do not require any simulation: 1) perfect positive correlation, 2) independence and 3) perfect negative correlation. If two markets are independent, which implies $\rho_{ij,t} = 0 \forall t, p_t(\theta)$ will be piece-wise linear, with slope equal to one, for $\theta \in (0, 0.5)$, and slope equal to minus one, for $\theta \in (0.5, 1)$. When there is perfect positive correlation between $r_{i,t}$ and $r_{j,t}$ (i.e. $\rho_{ij,t} = 1 \ \forall t$), $p_t(\theta)$ is a flat line that takes on unit value. Under this scenario, the two markets essentially reduce to one. The polar case occurs for perfect negative correlation, i.e. $\rho_{ij,t} = -1 \ \forall t$. In this case $p_t(\theta)$ is always equal to zero: when the realization of $r_{j,t}$ is in the lower tail of its distribution, the realization of $r_{i,t}$ is always in the upper tail of its own distribution and conversely (for a more analytical description of the model see the technical appendix).

This discussion suggests that the shape of $p_t(\theta)$ provides key insights about the dependence between two asset returns $r_{i,t}$ and $r_{j,t}$. In general, the higher $p_t(\theta)$ the higher the codependence between the two time series returns.

While $p_t(\theta)$ can be used to measure the dependence between different markets, the interest of the researcher often lies in testing whether this dependence has changed over time. Market integration is an important case in point. If increased integration can be associated to stronger comovements between markets, one can test for changes in integration by testing if the conditional probability of comovements between two markets increases after institutional changes fostering greater openness and integration.

The framework of the comovement box can be used to formalize this intuition. Let $p^B(\theta) \equiv B^{-1} \sum_{t < \tau} p_t(\theta)$ and $p^A(\theta) \equiv A^{-1} \sum_{t \ge \tau} p_t(\theta)$, where B and A denote the number of observations before and after a certain threshold date τ , respectively. We adopt the following working definition of increased integration:

Definition 1 - Integration increases if $\delta(0,1) = \int_0^1 [p^A(\theta) - p^B(\theta)] d\theta > 0.$

 $\delta(0,1)$ measures the area between the average conditional probabilities $p^A(\theta)$ and $p^B(\theta)$.

Constructing the comovement box and testing for differences in the probability of comovement requires several steps. First, we estimate the univariate quantiles associated to the return series of interest, using the CAViaR model by Engle and Manganelli (2004). Second, we construct, for each series and for each quantile, indicator variables which are equal to one if the observed return is lower than this quantile and zero otherwise. Finally, we regress the θ -quantile indicator variable of returns on market i on the θ -quantile indicator variable of returns on market j, interacted with time dummies which identify periods of greater integration. These regression coefficients will provide a direct estimate of the conditional probabilities of comovements and of their changes across regimes.

The average probability of comovement can be estimated by running the following regression:

$$I_t^i(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i}) \cdot I_t^j(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,j}) = \alpha_{0,\theta} + \alpha_{1,\theta} S_{1,t} + \eta_t, \tag{5}$$

where, for each θ -quantile (with $\theta \in (0, 1)$), $I_t^i(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i}) \equiv I\left(r_{i,t} \leq q_t^i(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i})\right)$ denotes an indicator function that takes on value one if the expression in parenthesis is true and zero otherwise, $q_t^i(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i})$ represents the estimated quantiles, $\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i}$ is a *p*-vector of parameters to be estimated, and $S_{1,t}$ is the dummy for the test period $t > \tau$.⁴

Cappiello, Gérard and Manganelli (2005) show that the OLS estimators of regression (5) are asymptotically consistent estimators of the average probability of comovement in the two periods and provide estimators for their standard errors:

$$\widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} \xrightarrow{p} E[p_t(\theta)| \text{ period } B] \equiv p^B(\theta), \tag{6}$$
$$\widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} + \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta} \xrightarrow{p} E[p_t(\theta)| \text{ period } A] \equiv p^A(\theta).$$

 $\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta}$ is the parameter associated with the constant and, as such, it converges to the average probabilities in the benchmark period. Similarly, since $\hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}$ is the coefficient of $S_{1,t}$, the sum of $\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} + \hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}$ converges to the average probability of comovement in the test period. Testing for an increase in the probability of comovement across two periods is equivalent to testing for the null that $\hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}$ is equal to zero. Indeed, it is only when $\hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta} = 0$ that the two probabilities coincide. If $\hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}$ is greater than zero, the conditional probability during the test period will be higher than the probability during the benchmark period.

Rigorous joint tests for integration which follow from the Definition 1 can be

⁴The "hat" denotes estimated coefficients.

constructed as follows:

$$\widehat{\delta}\left(\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}\right) = (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} [\widehat{p}^{A}(\theta) - \widehat{p}^{B}(\theta)] \qquad (7)$$

$$\equiv (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} (\widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} + \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}) - \widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta}$$

$$= (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta},$$

where $\#\theta$ denotes the number of addends in the sum (see the technical appendix for how to obtain the asymptotic distribution of this statistic).

We estimate the time-varying quantiles of the returns, $r_{i,t}$, using the following CAViaR specification:

$$q_{t}^{i}(\beta_{\theta,i}) = \beta_{0,\theta,i} + \beta_{1,\theta,i} S_{1,t} + \beta_{2,\theta,i} r_{i,t-1} + \beta_{3,\theta,i} q_{t-1}^{i}(\beta_{\theta,i}) - \beta_{2,\theta,i} \beta_{3,\theta,i} r_{i,t-2} + \beta_{4,\theta,i} |r_{i,t-1}|$$
(8)

where $\beta_{\theta,i} \equiv [\beta_{0,\theta,i}, \beta_{1,\theta,i}, ..., \beta_{4,\theta,i}]'$.

This parameterisation is robust to presence of autocorrelation in our sample returns. We add the dummy variable $S_{1,t}$ to the CAViaR specification to ensure that we have exactly the same proportion of quantile exceptions in both sub-periods. This will guarantee that $\Pr(r_{i,t} \leq q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0) | r_{j,t} \leq q_t^j(\beta_{\theta,j}^0)) = \Pr(r_{j,t} \leq q_t^j(\beta_{\theta,j}^0) | r_{i,t} \leq q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0))$ will be satisfied.⁵ For each market we estimate model (8) for 19 quantile probabilities ranging from 5% to 95%.

3.2 Regional versus global factors

In the factor model described by equation (1) returns on a national market are a function of a common and, possibly, country-specific factors. In principle the common factor can be divided in two distinct components: (i) a regional and (ii) a world factor. This decomposition permits to evaluate an increase in comovements which, on the one hand, is due to the introduction of the euro, and, on the other

⁵Asymptotically, correct specification would imply the same number of exceedances in both periods. However, in finite samples, this need not to be the case. Failure to account for this fact would affect the estimation of the conditional probabilities.

hand, is driven by global factors. Under this assumption equation (1) can be written as:

$$r_{i,t} = \omega_{ij,t}^R G_{ij,t}^R + \omega_{i,t}^W G_t^W + \zeta_{i,t}, \quad \forall i \text{ and } j,$$
(9)

where $\omega_{ij,t}^R$ and $\omega_{i,t}^W$ represent the exposure at time t to the regional and world factors $G_{ij,t}^R$ and G_t^W , respectively, and $\zeta_{i,t}$ the idiosyncratic risk, which is assumed to be orthogonal to both $G_{ij,t}^R$ and G_t^W , as well as to any other asset j idiosyncratic risk. The sufficient set of statistics for the two factor model (9) can be summarised as follows: $E\left(G_{ij,t}^R\right) = 0 \ \forall t, \ E\left[\left(G_{ij,t}^R\right)^2\right] = \sigma_{G_{ij,t}}^2, \ E\left(G_t^W\right) = 0 \ \forall t, \ E\left[\left(G_t^W\right)^2\right] = \sigma_{G_t^W}^2, \ E\left(\zeta_{i,t}\right) = E\left(\zeta_{j,t}\right) = 0 \ \forall t, \ E\left(\zeta_{i,t}^2\right) = \sigma_{\zeta_{i,t}}^2, \ E\left(\zeta_{j,t}^2\right) = \sigma_{\zeta_{j,t}}^2, \ E\left(\zeta_{i,t},\zeta_{i,s}\right) = 0 \ \forall t \neq s, \ E\left(\zeta_{i,t},\zeta_{j,s}\right) = 0 \ \forall t \neq j \ \text{and} \ \forall t \ \text{and} \ s, \ E\left(\zeta_{i,t},G_{ij,t}^R\right) = E\left(\zeta_{j,t},G_{ij,t}^R\right) = 0 \ \text{as well as } E\left(\zeta_{i,t},G_t^W\right) = E\left(\zeta_{j,t},G_t^W\right) = 0 \ \forall t, \ \text{and finally } E\left(G_{ij,t}^R,G_t^W\right) = 0.$

Following the reasoning of section 2, we can define the share of volatility explained by the regional and global factor as

$$\phi_{ij,t}^R \equiv \frac{\omega_{ij,t}^R \sigma_{G_{ij,t}^R}}{\sigma_{r_{i,t}}},\tag{10}$$

and

$$\phi_{i,t}^{W} \equiv \frac{\omega_{i,t}^{W} \sigma_{G_{t}^{W}}}{\sigma_{r_{i,t}}}.$$
(11)

In this case integration between markets i and j explained by regional factors is measured by:

$$\Phi^R_{ij,t} \equiv \phi^R_{ij,t} \phi^R_{ji,t},\tag{12}$$

and, analogously, the share of integration due to the global factor is given by:

$$\Phi^W_{ij,t} \equiv \phi^W_{i,t} \phi^W_{j,t}.$$
(13)

The linear correlation measure is now equal to the sum of (12) and (13):

$$\rho_{ij,t} = \Phi^R_{ij,t} + \Phi^W_{ij,t}.$$
(14)

In the next subsection we describe how we take into account global factors in

the context of the comovement box methodology.

3.3 The comovement box with a global factor

The comovement box methodology discussed in section 3.1 can include, in addition to the temporal dummy $S_{1,t}$, other dummies. While the coefficient associated with the temporal dummy indicates whether comovements between two asset returns change after a certain time, other dummies may accommodate the impact on codependences due to other factors. Following the framework proposed by Cappiello et al. (2006), we introduce a new dummy, $S_{2,t}$, which controls for global factors that may also be responsible for changes in integration. We take as a control variable the correlation between average returns on the equities' market pair under study and on a world equity market index excluding the euro area.⁶ We compute correlations as an Exponentially Weighted Moving Average (EWMA) with decay coefficient equal to 0.94. Next we construct $S_{2,t}$ so that it takes on value one when the underlying correlation variable is larger than a certain threshold ρ^* and zero otherwise, i.e. $S_{2,t} \equiv I(\rho_t^{EWMA} > \rho^*)$. ρ^* is chosen so that the two dummies $S_{1,t}$ and $S_{2,t}$ have the same number of ones.⁷ In this way we can control how much of the change in correlation after the introduction of the single currency is due to the global correlation factor.

When the $S_{2,t}$ dummy is introduced, equation (5) reads as follows:

$$I_t^i(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i}) \cdot I_t^j(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i}) = \alpha_{0,\theta} + \alpha_{1,\theta}S_{1,t} + \alpha_{2,\theta}S_{2,t} + v_t.$$

$$\tag{15}$$

In line with equation (15) four possible cases arise: (i) the comovements over the benchmark period when the global factor correlation is low, $p^{BL}(\theta)$; (ii) the comovements over the test period when the global factor correlation is low, $p^{AL}(\theta)$; (iii) the comovements over the benchmark period when the global factor correlation

⁶Since our interest lies in the evolution over time of correlations, we use simple averages of the assets' returns which will next provide the time series to calculate EWMA correlations.

⁷If the number of times $S_{2,t}$ is equal to one were quite limited (and significantly smaller than the number of times $S_{1,t}$ is equal to one), the control dummy would not possess sufficient explanatory power.

is high, $p^{BH}(\theta)$; and (iv) the comovements over the test period when the global factor correlation is high, $p^{AH}(\theta)$. It can be shown that OLS estimators of the equation (15) enjoy the following asymptotic properties:

 $\widehat{a}_{0,\theta} \xrightarrow{p} E[p_t(\theta)| \text{ period } B \text{ and low global correlation}] \equiv p^{BL}(\theta),$ $\widehat{a}_{0,\theta} + \widehat{a}_{1,\theta} \xrightarrow{p} E[p_t(\theta)| \text{ period } A \text{ and low global correlation}] \equiv p^{AL}(\theta),$ $\widehat{a}_{0,\theta} + \widehat{a}_{2,\theta} \xrightarrow{p} E[p_t(\theta)| \text{ period } B \text{ and high global correlation}] \equiv p^{BH}(\theta),$ $\widehat{a}_{0,\theta} + \widehat{a}_{1,\theta} + \widehat{a}_{2,\theta} \xrightarrow{p} E[p_t(\theta)| \text{ period } A \text{ and high global correlation}] \equiv p^{AH}(\theta).$

Therefore $\hat{a}_{1,\theta}$ measures the changes in equity market comovements after the introduction of the euro, after controlling for global factors. Standard errors for the estimated parameters can be computed as suggested by Cappiello, Gérard and Manganelli (2005). Similarly to the case when the dummy $S_{2,t}$ was not included, we are interested in testing whether $\hat{a}_{1,\theta}$ is significantly different from zero. When this occurs, integration between returns on assets' market pair can be attributed also to region-specific factors. Tests for region-specific integration are constructed in line with equation (7):

$$\widehat{\xi}\left(\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}\right) = (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} [\widehat{p}^{AL}(\theta) - \widehat{p}^{BL}(\theta)]$$

$$= (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} [\widehat{p}^{AH}(\theta) - \widehat{p}^{BH}(\theta)]$$

$$= (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta},$$
(16)

By the same token, it is possible to compute joint tests for the control variable:

$$\widehat{\psi}\left(\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}\right) = (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} [\widehat{p}^{BH}(\theta) - \widehat{p}^{BL}(\theta)]$$

$$= (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} [\widehat{p}^{AH}(\theta) - \widehat{p}^{AL}(\theta)]$$

$$= (\#\theta)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [\underline{\theta},\overline{\theta}]} \widehat{\alpha}_{2,\theta},$$
(17)

where $\#\theta$ denotes the number of addends in the sum.

Returns' conditional quantiles are estimated employing a CAViaR specification similar to that of equation (8), but with the inclusion of the new dummy $S_{2,t}$:

$$q_{t}^{i}(\beta_{\theta,i}) = \beta_{0,\theta,i} + \beta_{1,\theta,i} S_{1,t} + \beta_{2,\theta,i} S_{2,t} + \beta_{3,\theta,i} r_{i,t-1} + \beta_{4,\theta,i} q_{t-1}^{i}(\beta_{\theta,i}) - \beta_{3,\theta,i} \beta_{4,\theta,i} r_{i,t-2} + \beta_{5,\theta,i} |r_{i,t-1}|$$
(18)

where $\beta_{\theta,i} \equiv [\beta_{0,\theta,i}, \beta_{1,\theta,i}, ..., \beta_{5,\theta,i}]'$.

4 Data

We analyse returns on equity markets, for country and sector indices. Country indices include: (i) euro area countries, Germany, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Spain, Austria, Belgium, Finland, Greece, Ireland, Portugal, and (ii) EU non-euro area economies, Denmark, Sweden and the UK. The sample covers the period from March 5th, 1987 to January 13st, 2008.⁸ Japan and the US are also used in the analysis to compute the global factor indicator.

For each country, we analyse five sectors, financial, industrial (which we further divide into two sub-sectors, construction and materials, and industrials goods and services), consumer goods (which we further divide into three sub-sectors, automobile, food and beverages and personal and household goods), consumer services and health care.

We use Thomson Datastream indices at weekly frequency. Equity indices are market-value-weighted and include dividends. The use of weekly data reduces the asynchronicity effects due to different opening hours, national holidays and administrative closures. Equity returns are continuously compounded.

⁸Notice that the sample starts at later dates for some national and sector equity indices. In particular, observations for Finland and Portugal national equity indices commence on March 31st 1988 and January 4th 1990, respectively. Observations for: (i) the Finnish, Greek and Portuguese industrial sectors starts on March 31st 1988, January 7th 1988 and January 4th 1990, respectively; (ii) the Finnish, Greek and Portuguese financial sectors starts on March 31st 1988, January 4th 1990, and January 4th 1990, respectively; (iii) the Finnish, Greek, Portuguese and Swedish health sectors starts on March 31st 1988, January 4th 1990, April 21st 1988, and July 18th 1991, respectively; (iv) the Austrian, Belgian, Finnish, Greek and Portuguese consumer goods sectors starts on October 1st 1992, May 5th 1997, July 13th 1995, April 21st 1988 and January 4th 1990, respectively; (v) the Austrian, Finnish, Greek and Portuguese consumer services sectors starts on June 16th 1988, March 31st 1988, July 14th 1994, and January 4th 1990, respectively. Data for the Danish consumer services sector are not available.

Table 1 reports data summary statistics. As expected, country and sector equity index returns tend to be negatively skewed and leptokurtic. Non-normality is confirmed by the Jarque-Bera test statistics. It is also worth noticing that for some countries the number of companies entering certain sectors is quite low (see last column of table 1).

5 Monte Carlo simulation

Before discussing our empirical results, we study the finite sample properties of the comovement box methodology and the power of the associated tests. To this end, we perform a Monte Carlo experiment. We estimate the following model for French and German equity returns:

$$\mathbf{r}_t = \boldsymbol{\gamma}_0 + \boldsymbol{\gamma}_1 \mathbf{r}_{t-1} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_t \quad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_t \sim N(\mathbf{0}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_t), \tag{19}$$

where $\mathbf{r}_t = [r_{i,t}, r_{j,t}]'$ is a 2 × 1 vector of equity returns and Σ_t the associated covariance matrix. Σ_t , in turn, is modelled as a bivariate GARCH process:

$$\Sigma_{t} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{i,t}^{2} & \sigma_{ij,t} \\ \sigma_{ji,t} & \sigma_{j,t}^{2} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (20)$$

$$\sigma_{i,t} = \delta_{i,0} + \delta_{i,1}S_{1,t} + \delta_{i,2}|r_{i,t-1}| + \delta_{i,3}\sigma_{i,t-1},$$

$$\sigma_{j,t} = \delta_{j,0} + \delta_{j,1}S_{1,t} + \delta_{j,2}|r_{j,t-1}| + \delta_{j,3}\sigma_{j,t-1},$$

$$\sigma_{ij,t} = \delta_{ij,0} + \delta_{ij,1}r_{i,t-1}r_{j,t-1} + \delta_{ij,2}\sigma_{ij,t-1}.$$

We estimate the return equations and the associated second moments via maximum likelihood. Differently from standard bivariate GARCH processes, we model the evolution of standard deviations, instead of the evolution of the variances. It is easy to check that such data generating process (DGP) would generate the CAViaR model described in equation (8).

Given the estimates of the bivariate GARCH, we generate two vectors of simulated data using (19) and (20). The dimension of these vectors is the same as our sample data. Next, we estimate the comovement box for these two vectors. We repeat this procedure 100 times, which results in 100 probabilities of comovements before and after the introduction of the euro. Then we compute the averages of these two groups of probabilities and obtain the comovements over the benchmark and test periods. The Monte Carlo 95% confidence bands are computed as two times the standard deviations of the comovement box estimates. The results are reported in figure 2, where we also plot the probability of comovements over the test period computed using observed (as opposed to simulated) data. We notice that with the chosen sample size, the methodology is powerful enough to detect statistically significant changes in comovements between the test and benchmark periods.

6 Structural changes in comovements

In this section we investigate whether comovements in equity returns have changed with the introduction of the euro. To this end we construct the time dummy by splitting the sample at 1 January 1999 to compare probabilities of comovement before and after the introduction of the single currency. First, we evaluate the if comovements in national equity indices change after the introduction of the euro. Second, we introduce proxies for global factors to control that changes in comovements are not driven by world-wide trends in addition to euro-specific factors. Third, to understand the determinants of comovements between national indices, we re-estimate the model with a sectoral breakdown.

6.1 The introduction of the euro and the comovements in national equity markets

We estimate the probabilities of comovement for the national equity indices of each possible country pair in the euro area. Since our sample includes 14 countries, we compute a total of 91 comovement boxes. In figure 3 we report as an example the comovement box for France and Germany (together with 95% confidence bands). The chart shows that comovements between France and Germany have increased substantially with the introduction of the euro. The confidence bands indicate that the increase is also statistically significant for most of the quantiles.^{9,10}

Interestingly, figure 3 shows that comovements between France and Germany are higher in the left than in the right tails of the distribution: joint negative returns are more likely than positive ones. Such an analysis would not be possible with standard measures of correlation.

Table 2 summarises the probabilities of comovements for each country pair. The upper triangular portion of the table reports the average probabilities of comovements across all the quantile ranges before 1999 (i.e. the average $\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta}$ in regression (5) across all θ 's). The lower triangular portion of the table shows the changes in these probabilities after the introduction of the euro (changes significant at the 5% confidence level are reported in bold), i.e. the averaged dummy coefficients $\hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}$ of the test (7). The average probabilities of comovements after 1999 can be computed by adding the probabilities of the upper and lower triangular portions of the table.

The table offers a first set of stylised facts. First, large euro area countries exhibit higher degree of comovements relative to the small economies already before the adoption of the euro.¹¹ Second, comovements increase significantly after 1999 for most of the country pairs involving at least one large economy, Austria being a noticeable exception. Third, the increase in probabilities is much higher for the large than for the small economies, despite the former started from a higher level.

In figures 4a-4d we aggregate the 55 comovement boxes for euro area countries underlying table 2. The aggregation is implemented as weighted averages of the probabilities of each comovement box. The weights are computed as the fraction of the average value of the country pair market capitalisation relative to average value of the total euro area market capitalisation. Weights are kept constant at the 2003 values. Figure 4a shows that the overall average comovements increase after the introduction of the single currency. In line with the previous discussion, we

⁹All the other charts are available from the authors upon request.

¹⁰Since the pre and post-1999 lines are given by the estimates of $\alpha_{0,\theta}$ and $\alpha_{0,\theta} + \alpha_{1,\theta}$ in regression (5), respectively, and the confidence bands refer to the difference between the two lines (i.e. to $\hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}$), the standard errors associated to the estimate of $\alpha_{1,\theta}$ do not depend on the standard errors relative to $\alpha_{0,\theta}$.

¹¹The distinction between large and small economies is based on their relative market capitalisation values. We consider large euro area countries Germany, France, Italy, the Netherlands and Spain. The remaining countries of the sample form the small economies' group.

distinguish between large and small economies (see figures 4b-4d). This distinction confirms that most of the increase is driven by the large member states. Instead, comovement changes in small economies are less pronounced.

The figures also show that the asymmetric increase in comovements observed for France and Germany appears to be a stylised fact for all euro area equity markets. We further refine this analysis in tables 3 and 4. Table 3 reports the average probability of comovements for the left and right parts of the distribution before the introduction of the euro. We notice that comovements in the left part of the distribution (reported in the upper triangular portion of the table) are substantially higher than those in the right part of the distribution (lower triangular portion of the table). Table 4 formally tests whether these differences are also statistically significant. Specifically, table 4 reports the differences in comovements between the left and right parts of the distribution over the pre-euro and the euro sample periods. Differences statistically significant at the 5% level are reported in bold. The statistical significance was computed using the following tests, whose distribution can be easily derived from the joint distribution of the estimated parameters:

• Test for asymmetries in probabilities of comovements over the pre-euro sample period

$$\hat{\xi} \equiv (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.05, 0.5]} \widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} - (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.5, 0.95]} \widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta};$$

• Test for asymmetries in probabilities of comovements over the euro sample period

$$\widehat{\delta}(0.05, 0.5) - \widehat{\delta}(0.5, 0.95) = (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.05, 0.5]} \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta} - (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.5, 0.95]} \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}.$$

The results highlight that the asymmetry between left and right parts of the distribution was already present before 1999 and was not further increased by the introduction of the single currency. Previous studies also document the presence of asymmetric correlations in equity markets. For instance, Ang and Chen (2002) and

Hong, Tu and Zhou (2007) find that comovements between selected portfolios of equities and the whole aggregate stock market are larger in down than up markets.

6.2 Controlling for global factors

It is interesting to notice from table 2 that comovements increase significantly also for country pairs involving UK, Denmark and Sweden, which are members of the European Union, but have not joined the euro area. This may suggest that, after the introduction of the euro, the degree of integration among the financial markets of these countries has increased as well. This is plausible, considering the strong economic ties of these economies with the euro area. Alternatively, this finding can indicate that the increase in comovements between euro area economies coincides with the augmented strength in global factors rather than the introduction of the common currency.

To distinguish between the introduction of the euro and possibly enhanced global financial trends, we control whether our results are robust to the inclusion of a factor proxying world-wide comovements. The control is implemented following the procedure described in section 3.3, estimating equation (15).¹² To the extent that high global correlations reflect markets' reactions to world-wide shocks, country pair correlations are likely to be affected as well. If the effect of these global shocks is not taken into account, the estimated comovements after the introduction of the euro would be biased. The implication is that one could erroneously associate the increase in comovements to the introduction of the euro, when in fact it is driven by global factors. For example, the burst of the dotcom bubble or recent geopolitical risks have occurred after the introduction of the euro. If the uncertainty generated by these episodes increased correlations world-wide, neglecting these global correlation patterns would result in higher but spurious changes in comovements after the introduction of the single currency.

Results are reported in table 5. Panel A reports the average probabilities of

¹²The global index used to compute the EWMA correlations is constructed as a weighted average of the Japanese, UK and US equity indices. Weights are based on averages of market capitalization values over the period under consideration.

comovements across all the quantile ranges before 1999 (the average $\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta}$ in regression (15) across all θ 's). Panel B shows the average dummy coefficients $\hat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}$ (upper portion of the table) and $\hat{\alpha}_{2,\theta}$ (lower portion) of tests (16) and (17) respectively. As discussed in section 3.3, these tests can be interpreted as the increase in probability of comovements due to the euro and global dummies, respectively.

Not surprisingly, the inclusion of the global factor generally reduces the magnitude of the increase in country pair comovements occurring after the introduction of the euro. However, it is worth noticing that the euro dummy remains strongly significant for the large country pairs, while it becomes insignificant or marginally significant for small economies. The euro dummy continues to be significant also for the non-euro area countries $vis-\dot{a}-vis$ the large euro area economies. This suggests that the economic linkages among these nations have been strengthened by the creation of the single currency area. As for the global factor, it generally has positive coefficients, although only in a few cases statistically significant.

To sum up, there is a substantial empirical evidence that after the introduction of the single currency the degree of comovement among euro area countries has increased, beyond what can be accounted for by global trends. The increase appears to be particularly pronounced and statistically significant especially for large economies. In the next subsection we analyse to what extent these developments are driven by specific sectoral dynamics.

6.3 A sectoral decomposition

National aggregates may hide interesting developments occurring at a more disaggregate level. For instance, recent studies have shown that more tradable sectors are more sensitive to common shocks than less tradable industries. Brooks and Del Negro (2006) find that a firm rising its international sales by 10% raises the exposure of its stock returns to global shocks by 2%. In a similar vein, Griffin and Karolyi (1998) find that global industry effects are more relevant than country effects for traded than non-traded goods industries. Other factors that may have a differential impact on sectors include externalities generated by scientific discoveries (such as advances in information technology) or increased international mobility of production factors, notably financial capital and labour force. One cannot rule out the possibility that global factors affect different sectors with different intensities. Alternatively, lack of changes in comovements at national level may reflect offsetting changes in comovements at the sectoral level.

To better understand the sources of comovements between national indices, we re-estimate the model with a sectoral breakdown for the five largest euro area countries and the UK. In tables 6 we present the probabilities of comovements for five industries: financial, industrial, consumer goods, consumer services and health care. For industrial and consumer goods sectors we report a further breakdown. The industrial sector is split into "Construction and Materials" and "Industrial Goods and Services". The consumer goods sector is split into "Automobile", "Food and Beverages" and "Personal and Household Goods".

Similarly to the analysis reported in table 3, we estimate the changes in comovements after the introduction of the of the euro on the different sectors controlling for global factors. These controls are implemented following the procedure discussed in section 3.3.¹³

We notice that the changes in comovements occurred after the introduction of the euro observed at the aggregate level continue to hold for the financial and consumer services sectors, and to a lesser extent for the industrial sector.

Changes in comovements in the financial sector after the advent of the euro are consistent with the recent findings by ECB (2008) on the progress of financial integration in Europe. The introduction of the euro has been complemented in the financial sector by an enhanced EU framework aimed at removing barriers to crossborder activities and safeguard the stability of the single market. In particular, the Financial Services Action Plan (FSAP), launched in 1999, constituted a major overhaul of the EU legislation for financial services. While the FSAP targeted the entire financial sector, most of the initiatives related to securities markets (such as the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive or MiFID). These initiatives contributed to

¹³Global sector indices are constructed as a weighted average of the Japanese, UK and US sector indices. Weights are based on averages of industry market capitalization values over the period under consideration.

creating a EU wide level playing field in the financial sector, thus explaining the strong increase in comovements for the stocks in this sector after 1999.

Changes in comovements in consumer goods and health care industries after the introduction of the single currency are significantly less important. The further sectoral breakdown reveals that the comovement in the industrial sector is mostly driven by comovements in the industrial goods and services sector. As for the global factor, it has an impact in the financial and consumer goods sectors, while it appears to have almost no impact on industrial, consumer services and health sectors.

These results suggest that looking at sectoral breakdowns uncovers interesting dynamics which could not be observed at more aggregate levels. The positive changes in comovements in national index after the introduction of the euro appear to be mainly driven by the financial, consumer services and industrial sectors.

7 Conclusions

In this paper we employ a new methodology to investigate changes in comovements in European equity markets after the introduction of the euro. The methodology is based on quantile regression and evaluates comovements by estimating the probability that the returns on two different indices exceed simultaneously a given quantile. The advantage of this approach is that it is robust to heteroskedasticity biases and departure from normality, which typically plague financial data. Furthermore, it allows to draw precise statistical inferences about the changes in comovements after the introduction of the euro. By properly addressing time-varying volatility issues, our measures of comovements permit to evaluate whether the introduction of the euro has coincided with an increased degree of financial integration.

We document an overall increase in the degree of comovement between European equity markets, upon the introduction of the single currency. This increase is robust to controls accounting for changes in global correlations. A more refined analysis on sector indices confirms that after the introduction of the single currency overall comovements among euro area economies did increase. It also reveals that most of the comovements are driven by the financial, industrials and consumer services sectors.

8 Technical appendix

8.1 Time-varying regression quantiles

Let $q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i})$ denote the empirical specification for the $q_{\theta,t}^i$ time-varying quantile conditional on Ω_t , where $\beta_{\theta,i}$ denotes the *p*-vector of parameters to be estimated. Let $\rho_{\theta}(\lambda) \equiv [\theta - I(\lambda \leq 0)] \lambda$ be a piecewise linear "check function", where $I(\cdot)$ denotes an indicator function that takes on value one if the expression in parenthesis is true and zero otherwise. The unknown parameters of the quantile specification can be consistently estimated by solving the following minimization problem (Koenker and Bassett 1978):

$$\min_{\beta_{\theta,i}} T^{-1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \rho_{\theta} \left(r_{i,t} - q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}) \right), \qquad (21)$$

where T denotes the sample size

Engle and Manganelli (2004) provide sufficient conditions for consistency and asymptotic normality results of individual quantile specifications.

To derive the joint distribution of the regression quantile estimators of the two time series, $r_{i,t}$ and $r_{j,t}$. Define:

$$\underset{p\times p}{\overset{D_{\theta}^{i}}{\underset{p\times p}{=}}}\equiv E[T^{-1}\sum_{t=1}^{T}h_{\theta,t}^{i}(0)\nabla q_{t}^{i}(\beta_{\theta,i}^{0})\nabla' q_{t}^{i}(\beta_{\theta,i}^{0})]$$

where $h_{\theta,t}^i(0)$ is the value at zero of the density of $\varepsilon_{\theta,t}^i \equiv r_{i,t} - q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0)$ and $\nabla q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0)$ is the gradient of the quantile function evaluated at the true parameter $\beta_{\theta,i}^0$, and

$$\psi_{\theta,t}^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0) \equiv [\theta - I(r_{i,t} \le q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0))] \nabla q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0).$$

$$p \times 1$$

Next, let $\beta_i \equiv [\beta_{\theta,i}]_{\theta=1}^m$ denote the *pm*-vector stacking the $\beta_{\theta,i}$ regression quantile parameters, $D^i \equiv diag\left([D^i_{\theta}]_{\theta=1}^m\right)$ the $(pm \times pm)$ block diagonal matrix with the matrices D^i_{θ} along the main diagonal, and $\psi^i_t(\beta^0_i) \equiv [\psi^i_{\theta,t}(\beta^0_{\theta,i})]_{\theta=1}^m$ the *pm*-vector stacking all the $\psi^i_{\theta,t}(\beta^0_{\theta,i})$.

Consider analogous terms for $r_{j,t}$ and finally define:

$$\substack{\beta\\2pm\times 1}\equiv [\beta'_i,\beta'_j]'$$

$$D_{2pm \times 2pm} \equiv diag([D^i, D^j]), \qquad (22)$$

$$\psi_t(\beta^0) \equiv [\psi_t^i(\beta_i^0)', \psi_t^j(\beta_j^0)']'.$$
(23)
$$2pm \times 1$$

The following corollary derives the joint asymptotic distribution of the regression quantile estimators.

Corollary 2 Under assumptions C0-C7 and AN1-AN4 in Appendix A, $\sqrt{T}A^{-1/2}D(\hat{\beta}-\beta^0) \xrightarrow{d} N(0,I)$, where $\hat{\beta}$ is the vector containing the solutions to (21) and $A \equiv E\left[T^{-1}\sum_{t=1}^{T}\psi_t(\beta^0)\psi_t(\beta^0)'\right]$.

Engle and Manganelli (2004) provide asymptotically consistent estimators of the variance-covariance matrix (see their theorem 3).

8.2 Estimation of the conditional probability of comovement

The average probability of comovement between $r_{i,t}$ and $r_{j,t}$ can be estimated by running the following regression:

$$I_t(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i}) \cdot I_t(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,j}) = W_t \alpha_{\theta}^0 + \varepsilon_t, \qquad \theta = 1, ..., m,$$
(24)

where $I_t(\beta_{\theta,i}) \equiv I(r_{i,t} \leq q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}))$, $I_t(\beta_{\theta,j})$ is defined analogously, $W_t \equiv [1, S_t]$, S_t is an (s-1) row vector of dummies (possibly indicating alternative time periods identified by economic variables), and α_{θ}^0 a (s, 1) vector of unknown coefficients.

Let $\hat{\alpha}_{\theta}$ be the OLS estimator of (24) and denote with $\hat{\alpha}_{l,\theta}$ the $(l+1)^{th}$ element of this vector, l = 0, 1, ..., s-1. Analogously, let $S_{l,t}$ denote the l^{th} element of S_t . Let C_l be the number of observations identified by the dummies $\{S_{l,t} = 1, S_t^{-l} = 0\}_{t=1}^T$, where S_t^{-l} represents the vector S_t without its l^{th} element and **0** is a vector of zeros of appropriate dimension. Define also $\bar{F}_l^{\theta} \equiv C_l^{-1} \sum_{t \in \{t:S_{l,t}=1,S_t^{-l}=\mathbf{0}\}} F_t(q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}), q_t^j(\beta_{\theta,j})).^{14}$ The following theorem shows that $\hat{\alpha}_{\theta}$ is a consistent estimator of the average probabilities of comovements in the time periods defined by the dummies.

Theorem 3 (Consistency) - Assume that $C_l/T \xrightarrow{T \to \infty} k_l$, where $k_l \in (0,1)$, l = 0, ..., s - 1, is the asymptotic ratio between the number of observations identified by the lth dummy (C_l) and the total number (T) of observations. Under the same assumptions of Corollary 1,

$$\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} \xrightarrow{p} plim(\bar{F}_0^{\theta}) \qquad \theta = 1, ..., m,$$

$$[\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} + \hat{\alpha}_{l,\theta}] \xrightarrow{p} plim(\bar{F}_l^{\theta}) \qquad \theta = 1, ..., m, and l = 1, ..., s - 1.$$

 $\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta}$ is the parameter associated with the constant and, as such, it converges to the average probability of comovement in the benchmark period (i.e., the period when all other dummies are equal to zeros). Similarly, since $\hat{\alpha}_{l,\theta}$ for l = 1, ..., s - 1is the coefficient of the l^{th} dummy $S_{l,t}$, the sum of $\hat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} + \hat{\alpha}_{l,\theta}$ converges in probability to the average probability of comovement in the corresponding dummy period. According to this theorem, testing for a change in the conditional probability of comovement in the periods identified by the dummy $S_{l,t}$ is equivalent to testing for the null that $\alpha_{l,\theta}$ is equal to zero. Indeed, it is only when $\alpha_{l,\theta} = 0$ that there is no change in probabilities of comovement relative to the benchmark period. Otherwise, if $\alpha_{l,\theta}$ is less than zero, the probability over the l^{th} dummy period will be lower than the probability during the benchmark period, while if $\alpha_{l,\theta}$ is greater than zero, the probability will be higher.

To obtain the asymptotic distribution of this estimator, define first the following

¹⁴We denote with C_0 the number of observations in the benchmark period. \bar{F}_0^{θ} is correspondingly defined as the average cdf in the benchmark period.

terms:

$$g_{t}(\beta_{\theta,i},\beta_{\theta,j}) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,i}) \cdot I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,j}) - E[I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,i}^{0}) \cdot I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,j}^{0})] \\ I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,i}) \cdot I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,j}) \cdot S_{1,t} - E[I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,i}^{0}) \cdot I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,j}^{0})|S_{1,t} = 1] \\ \vdots \\ I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,i}) \cdot I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,j}) \cdot S_{s-1,t} - E[I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,i}^{0}) \cdot I_{t}(\beta_{\theta,j}^{0})|S_{s-1,t} = 1] \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$\begin{split} \begin{array}{ll} G_{\theta} & \equiv & E\left\{T^{-1}\sum_{t=1}^{T}W_{t}'\left[\nabla_{\beta}'q_{t}^{j}(\beta_{\theta,j}^{0})\int_{-\infty}^{0}h_{\theta,t}(\eta,0)d\eta + \nabla_{\beta}'q_{t}^{i}(\beta_{\theta,i}^{0})\int_{-\infty}^{0}h_{t}(0,\upsilon)d\upsilon\right]\right\}, \end{split}$$

where $h_{\theta,t}(\eta, v)$ is the joint pdf of $(r_{i,t} - q_t^i(\beta_{\theta,i}^0), r_{j,t} - q_t^j(\beta_{\theta,j}^0))$, and ∇_β denotes the derivative with respect to the 2*pm*-vector β . Next let $g_t(\beta^0) \equiv [g_t(\beta_{\theta,i}^0, \beta_{\theta,j}^0)]_{\theta=1}^m$ be the *sm*-vector stacking all the *m* possible vectors $g_t(\beta_{\theta,i}, \beta_{\theta,j})$, and construct the $(sm \times T)$ matrix $R \equiv [g_t(\beta^0)]_{t=1}^T$. Define also $G \equiv [G_\theta]_{\theta=1}^m$, an $(sm \times 2pm)$ matrix stacking all the G_θ matrices, $\Psi \equiv [\psi_t(\beta^0)]_{t=1}^T$, a $(2pm \times T)$ matrix where $\psi_t(\beta^0)$ was defined in (23), and $W \equiv [W_t]_{t=1}^T$, a $(T \times s)$ matrix containing all the vectors of dummies from regression (5).

Finally, let $\alpha^0 \equiv [\alpha_{\theta_1}^{0\prime}, \alpha_{\theta_2}^{0\prime}, ..., \alpha_{\theta_m}^{0\prime}]'$ be the *sm*-vector of true unknown parameters to be estimated in (5). Similarly, define $\hat{\alpha} \equiv [\hat{\alpha}'_{\theta_1}, \hat{\alpha}'_{\theta_2}, ..., \hat{\alpha}'_{\theta_m}]'$.

Theorem 4 (Asymptotic Normality) - Under the assumptions of Corollary 1 and AN5 (see Appendix A),

$$\sqrt{T}M^{-1/2}Q\left(\hat{\alpha}-\alpha^{0}\right)\overset{d}{\to}N(0,J_{sm}),$$

where

$$M_{sm \times sm} \equiv E[T^{-1}(R + GD^{-1}\Psi)(R + GD^{-1}\Psi)'],$$
$$Q_{sm \times sm} \equiv J_m \otimes (T^{-1}W'W),$$

 J_k is the identity matrix of dimension k and D is defined in (22).

Without the correction term $GD^{-1}\Psi$ in the matrix M, we would get the standard OLS variance-covariance matrix. The correction is needed in order to account for the estimated regression quantile parameters that enter the OLS regression. This correction term is similar to the one derived by Engle and Manganelli (2004) for the in-sample Dynamic Quantile test. The main difference is related to the composition of the matrix G. Since two different random variables $(r_{j,t} \text{ and } r_{j,t})$ enter the regression, G contains the terms $\int_{-\infty}^{0} h_{\theta,t}(\eta, 0) d\eta$ and $\int_{-\infty}^{0} h_{\theta,t}(0, v) dv$, which can be interpreted as the bivariate analogue of the height of the density function of the quantile residuals evaluated at zero that typically appears in standard errors of regression quantiles.

The variance-covariance matrix can be consistently estimated using plug-in estimators. The only non-standard term is G, whose estimator is provided by the following theorem.

Theorem 5 (Variance-Covariance Estimation) - Under the same assumptions of Theorem 4 and assumptions VC1-VC3 in Appendix A, $\hat{G}_{\theta} \xrightarrow{p} G_{\theta}$, where

$$\hat{G}_{\theta} \equiv (2T\hat{c}_{T})^{-1} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left\{ I(|r_{j,t} - q_{t}^{j}(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,j})| < \hat{c}_{T}) I(r_{i,t} < q_{t}^{i}(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i})) W_{t}' \nabla_{\beta}' q_{t}^{j}(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,j}) + I(|r_{i,t} - q_{t}^{i}(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i})| < \hat{c}_{T}) I(r_{j,t} < q_{t}^{j}(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,j})) W_{t}' \nabla_{\beta}' q_{t}^{i}(\hat{\beta}_{\theta,i}) \right\}$$

and \hat{c}_T is defined in assumption VC1.

8.3 Hypothesis testing

Using theorems (2) and (3), a test of linear restrictions on the estimated probability of comovement can be easily constructed.

Corollary 6 Suppose that α is subject to $u (\leq sm)$ linearly independent restrictions $U\alpha^0 = b$, where U is an (u, sm) matrix of rank u and b is an u-vector. Under the assumptions of Theorem 5

$$\sqrt{T}(UQ^{-1}\hat{M}Q^{-1}U')^{-1/2}(U\hat{\alpha}-b) \xrightarrow{d} N(0,I_u),$$

which can be equivalently restated as a Wald test

$$T(U\hat{\alpha} - b)'(UQ^{-1}\hat{M}Q^{-1}U')^{-1}(U\hat{\alpha} - b) \xrightarrow{d} \chi^2(u),$$

where the $\hat{}$ indicates estimated quantities.

References

- Adler, M. and B. Dumas, 1983, "International Portfolio Choice and Corporation Finance: A Synthesis," *Journal of Finance* 38, 925-984.
- [2] Ang, A. and J. Chen, 2002, "Asymmetric Correlations of Equity Portfolios," Journal of Financial Economics 63, 443-494.
- [3] Aydemir, A.C., 2005, "Why are International Equity Market Correlations Low?," Unpublished working paper, Carnegie Mellon University.
- [4] Bae, K.-H., G.A. Karolyi, and R. M. Stulz, 2003, "A New Approach to Measuring Financial Contagion," *Review of Financial Studies* 16, 717-763.
- [5] Baele, L., A. Ferrando, P. Hördahl, E. Krylova, and C. Monnet, 2004, "Measuring Financial Integration in the Euro Area," ECB Occasional Paper no. 14.
- [6] Bekaert, G., and C. Harvey, 1995, "Time-Varying World Market Integration," Journal of Finance, 50, 403-444.
- [7] Bekaert, G. and C.R. Harvey, 1997, "Emerging Equity Market Volatility," Journal of Financial Economics 43, 29-77.
- [8] Bekaert, G., R.J. Hodrick and X. Zhang, 2005, "International Stock Return Comovements," NBER Working Paper no. 11906.
- [9] Brooks, R. and M. Del Negro, 2006, "Firm-Level Evidence on International Stock Market Comovement," *Review of Finance* 10, 69-98.

- [10] Cappiello, L., B. Gérard and S. Manganelli, 2005, "Measuring Comovements by Regression Quantiles," ECB Working Paper no. 501.
- [11] Cappiello, L., B. Gérard, A. Kadareja and S. Manganelli, 2006, "Financial Integration of New EU Member States," ECB Working Paper no. 683.
- [12] Cappiello, L., M. Lo Duca and A. Maddaloni, 2008, "Equity Risk Premia in the Euro Area: An Intertemporal Approach," ECB mimeo.
- [13] Carrieri, F., V. Errunza and S. Sarkissian, 2004, "Industry Risk and Market Integration," *Management Science* 50, 207-221.
- [14] Ciccarelli, M. and A. Rebucci, 2007, "Measuring Contagion with a Bayesian, Time-Varying Coefficient Model: An Application to the Chilean FX Market during the Argentine Crisis," *Journal of Financial Econometrics* 5, 285-320.
- [15] Dumas, B., C.R. Harvey and P. Ruiz, 2003, "Are Correlations of Stock Returns Justified by Subsequent Changes in National Outputs?," *Journal of International Money and Finance* 22, 777-811.
- [16] Dungey, M., R. Fry, B. González-Hermosillo, and V.L. Martin, 2005, "Empirical Modelling of Contagion: A review of methodologies," *Quantitative Finance* 5, 9-24.
- [17] Eiling, E. and B. Gérard, 2007, "Dispersion, Equity Returns Correlations and Market Integration," mimeo, Tilburg University.
- [18] Eiling, E., B. Gérard and F. de Roon, 2005, "International Diversification in the Euro Zone: The Increasing Riskiness of Industry Portfolios," mimeo, Tilburg University.
- [19] Engle, R.F. and S. Manganelli, 2004, "CAViaR: Conditional Autoregressive Value at Risk by Regression Quantiles," *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 22, 367-381.
- [20] Errunza, V. and E. Losq, 1985, "International Asset Pricing under Mild Segmentation: Theory and Test," *Journal of Finance* 40, 105-124.
- [21] ECB, 2008, Financial Integration in Europe, downloadable at http://www.ecb.int/pub/pdf/other/financialintegrationineurope200804en.pdf.
- [22] Flood, R.P. and A.K. Rose, 2005, "Estimating the Expected Marginal Rate of Substitution: A Systematic Exploitation of Idiosyncratic Risk," *Journal of Monetary Economics* 52, 951-969.
- [23] Forbes, K.J., and R. Rigobon, 2002, "No Contagion, only Interdependence: Measuring Stock Market Comovements," *Journal of Finance* 57, 2223-2261.
- [24] Gérard, B. K. Thanyalakpark and J.A. Batten, 2003, "Are the East Asian Market Integrated? Evidence from the ICAPM," *Journal of Economics and Business* 55, 585-607.
- [25] Griffin, J.M. and G.A. Karolyi, 1998, "Another Look at the Role of Industrial Structure of Markets for International Diversification Strategies," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 50, 351-373.
- [26] Hardouvelis, G.A., D. Malliaropulos, and R. Priestley, 2006, "EMU and European Stock Market Integration," *Journal of Business*, 79, 365-392.
- [27] Hardouvelis, G.A., D. Malliaropulos, and R. Priestley, 2007, "The Impact of EMU on the Equity Cost of Capital," *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 26, 305-327.
- [28] Hartmann, P., S. Straetmans and C.G. De Vries, 2004, "Asset Market Linkages in Crisis Periods," *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 86, 313-326.
- [29] Hong, Y., J. Tu and G. Zhou, 2007, "Asymmetries in Stock Returns," *Review of of Financial Studies* 20, 1547-1581.
- [30] Kim, T.-H. and H. White, 2004, "On more Robust Estimation of Skewness and Kurtosis," *Finance Research Letters* 1, 56-73.
- [31] King, M., E. Sentana and S. Wadhwani, 1994, "Volatility and Links between National Stock Markets," *Econometrica* 62, 901-933.



- [32] Longin, F. and B. Solnik, 2001, "Extreme correlation of international equity markets," *Journal of Finance* 56, 649-76.
- [33] Pericoli, M. and M. Sbracia, 2003, "A Primer on Financial Contagion," Journal of Economic Surveys 17, 571-608.
- [34] Rockinger, M. and G. Urga, 2001, "A Time-Varying Parameter Model to Test for Predictability and Integration in the Stock Markets of Transition Economies," *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 19, 73-84.
- [35] Sontchik, S., 2004, "Financial Integration of European Equity Markets," mimeo, HEC University of Lausanne.
- [36] Stulz, R. M., 1981, "A Model of International Asset Pricing," Journal of Financial Economics 9, 383-406.

Figure 1: The comovement box

This figure plots the probability that an asset return $r_{i,t}$ falls below (above) its θ -quantile conditional on another asset return $r_{j,t}$ being below (above) its θ -quantile, for $\theta < 0.5$ ($\theta \ge 0.5$). The case of perfect positive correlation, independence, and perfect negative correlation are represented.



Figure 2: Monte Carlo simulation

Average estimate of comovements and associated standard errors resulting from 100 replications of the Monte Carlo exercise described in section 4.





Figure 3: Probabilities of comovements between returns on equity market indices for France and Germany

Figure 3 plots the estimated probabilities of comovements between returns on French and German equity market indices over two periods. The first sub-sample covers the premonetary union period (March 1987 to December 1998), while the second the monetary union period (January 1999 to January 2008). The dashed lines denote the two standard error bounds around the estimated comovement likelihood in the monetary union period, while the thin line represents the probability of comovement in the pre-monetary union period.



40 Working Paper Series No 906 June 2008

Figure 4: Weighted average probabilities of comovements between returns on equity market indices for the euro area economies

Figures 3a-3d plot weighted average estimated probabilities of comovements between returns on equity market indices for euro area member states over two periods. The first sub-sample covers the pre-monetary union period (March 1987 to December 1998), while the second the monetary union period (January 1999 to January 2008). The five largest euro area economies are France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands and Spain. The small economies included in the analysis are Austria, Belgium, Finland, Greece, Ireland and Portugal. The probability of comovement of each euro area country pair is weighted by the fraction of its average market capitalisation value relative to the total euro area market capitalisation value at 2003.











Figure 4d: Small economies



Table 1: Summary statistics

This table reports summary statistics relative to weekly returns on national and sectoral equity market indices. The national equity indices refer to Germany (DE), France (FR), Italy (IT), the Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Austria (AT), Belgium, Finland (FI), Greece (GR), Ireland (IE), Japan (JP), Portugal (PT), Denmark (DK), Sweden (SE) the United Kingdom (UK) and the United States (US). For Germany, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Spain, the UK, the US and Japan, ten sectoral indices are considered: Industrial, Construction and Materials, Industrial Goods and Services, Financial, Consumer Goods, Automobile, Food and Beverages, Personal and Household Goods, Consumer Services, and Health industries. For most of the countries and industries the data set starts on 5 March 1987 and ends on 31 January 2008. Equity indices are from Thomson Datastream. For each return series, Mean and standard deviation (SD) are annualized and in percentage. "Max" and "Min" represent the weekly maximum and minimum returns and are in percentage. "Skew" and "Kurt" stand for skewness and kurtosis, respectively, while "#Comp" denotes the number of companies included in the index. The Jarque-Bera (J-B) test for normality combines excess skewness and kurtosis and is asymptotically distributed as χ^2_m with m=2 degrees of freedom.

Country	Mean	Max	Min	SD	Skew	Kurt	J-B	# comp
			Panel A	A: Total In	ndices			
DE	8.33	12.40	-15.54	18.08	-0.81	7.26	935	250
FR	9.69	13.14	-10.59	17.99	-0.38	5.59	328	250
IT	6.45	11.06	-14.87	20.13	-0.37	5.14	231	160
NL	10.40	10.77	-15.69	16.52	-0.98	7.99	1293	130
ES	11.40	9.91	-27.11	19.45	-1.35	14.40	6185	120
AT	10.83	16.33	-17.66	17.67	-0.57	10.75	2759	50
BE	9.67	11.65	-18.93	16.01	-0.90	10.43	2632	90
FI	12.89	15.13	-23.64	28.58	-0.62	7.01	749	50
GR	16.57	20.25	-17.35	27.73	0.38	6.51	499	50
IE	11.18	9.37	-24.42	20.02	-1.21	11.23	3311	50
РТ	7.86	11.51	-17.24	16.14	-0.59	9.39	1640	50
DK	12.87	9.41	-10.60	16.30	-0.35	5.24	246	50
SE	11.91	21.63	-19.64	23.44	-0.42	7.34	877	70
UK	9.48	9.44	-21.62	15.28	-1.29	14.56	6320	549
US	10.28	9.23	-17.27	15.44	-0.90	8.53	1525	996
JP	-0.29	13.86	-12.34	19.59	-0.16	4.91	169	999

Mean Max SD Country Min Skew Kurt J-B # comp Panel B: Industrial Sector Indices 9.22 12.09 6.33 596 74 -15.63 20.50 -0.74DE 9.76 FR 19.31 -14.35 21.36 -0.16 6.33 504 57 IT 0.51 16.68 -17.73 25.61 -0.21 5.14 214 35 NL 8.99 32.98 22.24 -21.68 -0.415.78 377 40 9984 ES 6.62 26.36 -31.35 22.64 -0.9217.78 26 UK 8.62 10.42 -25.56 20.19 -1.57 13.91 5800 117 11.43 10.50 -20.55 18.70 -1.06 10.86 2980 168 US JP 3.27 12.35 -13.96 21.94 -0.31 5.00 197 230 Panel C: Industrial Sub-Sector Indices – Construction and Materials DE 6.75 12.21 -18.76 22.74 -0.48 6.36 547 11 22.06 FR 10.13 12.33 -12.08-0.244.72 142 12 24.90 5.48 14.88 -15.10 -0.18 245 5.31 16 IT 15.64 9 NL 14.60 -13.49 20.67 -0.46 6.08 464 12.69 16.91 -30.93 3450 12 ES 24.28 -1.02 11.51 UK 9.52 12.09 -21.33 19.83 -0.56 7.96 1161 12 US 10.89 25.30 -25.7323.42 -0.1811.62 3347 19 JP -1.71 18.37 -15.39 22.99 0.17 6.49 552 37 Panel D: Industrial Sub-Sector Indices – Industrials Goods and Services DE 9.28 10.76 -15.57 20.07 -0.746.25 572 63 FR 5.40 15.47 -14.07 20.86 -0.53 6.11 487 45 IT 1.99 13.15 -17.4823.42 -0.27 5.30 250 19 9.24 NL 22.17 -20.7727.99 -0.45 6.58 613 31 16.08 9.67 ES -15.16 18.02 -0.547.02 779 14 9.87 -1.54 7559 105 UK 7.52 -24.0917.15 15.59 10.86 -21.00 -1.16 149 US 10.45 18.13 11.87 3782 12.25 -0.34 193 JP 1.83 -14.55 20.05 5.17 232 **Panel E: Financial Sector Indices** 7.31 898 57 6.11 15.87 -17.80DE 21.19 -0.59 9.16 18.71 -15.62 21.27 -0.16 7.45 893 54 FR -19.41 IT 6.03 11.25 21.15 -0.346.08 447 50 -15.43 32 NL 9.63 15.14 19.28 -0.65 8.71 1541 -22.40 21.93 -0.74 1944 ES 10.10 13.19 9.41 31 UK 13.31 -20.29 19.67 -0.58 7.93 1155 196 11.56 US 11.57 14.94 -18.1219.12 -0.248.09 1174 197 JP -3.85 18.62 -18.80 27.03 0.07 5.45 270 185 Panel F: Consumer Goods Sector Indices DE 7.66 15.86 -23.1723.26 -0.76 9.05 1748 32 7.39 35 FR 19.29 -18.81 22.98 -0.52 7.62 1010 -0.52 22 IT 2.72 12.77 -20.40 24.86 5.92 432 NL 11.31 24.12 -19.05 24.13 0.10 9.27 13 1772 1.95 25.58 -24.45 34.38 0.74 9.14 1791 16 ES UK 8.24 14.36 -27.23 23.25 -0.87 10.64 2763 37 19.34 -0.89 2665 88 US 7.11 12.03 -22.0710.49 10.34 -13.04 20.70 -0.24 176 JP 5.25 4.93 177 Panel G: Consumer Goods Sub-Sector Indices – Automobile 7.93 1341 13 DE 17.42 -23.25 24.52 -0.62 8.32 17.27 7.36 -16.17 26.05 -0.40 5.53 315 7 FR 0.30 14.53 IT -21.16 28.66 -0.425.20 250 8 15.98 NL 2.64 -30.63 24.38 -1.47 16.64 8769 0 2.41 44.13 12.29 ES -24.6740.48 1.45 4262 1 UK 10.40 14.51 -25.55 26.03 -0.72 7.40 964 1 US 5.45 12.65 -22.70 22.45 -0.72 7.59 1042 12 JP 6.38 12.63 -12.98 22.09 -0.10 4.77 142 54

Table 1: Continued

Country	Mean	Max	Min	SD	Skew	Kurt	J-B	# comp
	Panel H	I: Consum	er Goods Sı	ib-Sector In			erages	
DE	8.39	10.13	-21.28	16.40	-0.79	12.70	4347	7
FR	10.51	9.64	-10.07	16.84	-0.26	4.36	95	15
IT	5.47	11.15	-33.59	27.56	-1.23	13.04	2778	3
NL	11.14	11.21	-12.65	17.35	-0.38	5.49	303	8
ES	6.46	14.58	-25.98	20.60	-0.74	11.74	3538	9
UK	9.72	9.28	-20.68	16.15	-0.92	11.10	3107	18
US	10.98	10.32	-11.04	15.51	-0.42	5.92	416	35
JP	-0.76	12.32	-15.13	16.92	-0.31	7.21	814	47
P			ds Sub-Sec				hold Good	
DE	9.10	16.29	-12.72	17.92	-0.36	7.39	888	12
FR	11.41	18.43	-13.97	21.00	-0.18	6.43	535	13
IT	9.00	14.52	-27.95	24.32	-0.93	10.08	2410	11
NL	10.63	20.57	-19.30	24.21	-0.04	7.71	998	5
ES	11.35	31.46	-18.66	27.84	0.40	9.73	2064	6
UK	13.45	18.57	-24.87	18.95	-0.68	15.38	6981	18
US	12.24	7.97	-20.22	16.92	-1.42	12.98	4848	41
JP	2.94	14.40	-14.51	19.84	-0.31	6.22	484	75
		Pane	l J: Consun	ier Service	s Sector Ind			
DE	6.43	17.04	-20.12	20.22	-0.52	7.63	1023	21
FR	6.62	13.51	-19.19	20.61	-0.51	7.77	1082	37
IT	3.97	17.30	-18.24	21.16	0.03	7.41	883	15
NL	11.89	13.89	-18.48	18.75	-0.69	8.98	1714	17
ES	10.36	13.02	-16.48	20.97	-0.81	7.61	1086	13
UK	7.12	10.55	-21.96	16.75	-1.23	12.85	4682	89
US	8.50	11.54	-20.54	18.69	-0.83	9.08	1789	139
JP	-1.01	12.41	-13.92	18.34	-0.28	5.30	252	149
			Panel K: H	Iealth Sect	or Indices			
DE	10.78	12.82	-14.15	15.44	-0.59	8.29	1321	18
FR	10.71	9.13	-9.76	18.73	-0.30	4.17	77	16
IT	5.30	15.10	-12.78	23.63	-0.02	4.29	74	3
NL	6.60	11.23	-18.49	19.43	-0.78	7.49	1015	4
ES	11.57	22.12	-16.44	22.18	0.20	8.66	1447	6
UK	9.13	11.40	-22.18	17.35	-0.64	10.70	2742	23
US	11.53	7.34	-14.26	15.35	-0.61	6.39	582	88
JP	1.16	12.35	-13.69	16.10	-0.21	6.87	682	45

 Table 1: Continued

Table 2: Probabilities of co-movements between returns on equity market indices over the pre-euro (upper triangular portion) and the euro sample periods (lower triangular portion) across the all quantile ranges

This table reports the probability of comovements for each country pair. The upper triangular portion shows the average probability of comovements before the introduction of the euro. The lower triangular portion reports the changes in these probabilities after the introduction of the euro. Changes significant at least at 5% confidence level are reported in bold. Average probabilities and test statistics are estimated across all quantile ranges, for $\theta \in (0.05, 0.95)$. The first sub-sample covers the pre-monetary union period (March 1987 to December 1998), while the second sub-sample covers the monetary union period (January 1999 to January 2008). The equity indices refer to Germany (DE), France (FR), Italy (IT), the Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Austria (AT), Belgium, Finland (FI), Greece (GR), Ireland (IE), Portugal (PT), Denmark (DK), Sweden (SE) and the United Kingdom (UK).

									Averag	ge prol	abilitie	es of co	-move	ments
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	AT	BE	FI	GR	IE	РТ	DK	SE	UK
DE		0.57	0.46	0.57	0.47	0.50	0.53	0.42	0.36	0.45	0.44	0.49	0.50	0.49
FR	0.18		0.46	0.56	0.52	0.44	0.52	0.41	0.35	0.44	0.40	0.42	0.47	0.52
IT	0.20	0.26		0.47	0.45	0.42	0.45	0.40	0.33	0.42	0.36	0.45	0.44	0.43
NL	0.15	0.17	0.18		0.51	0.46	0.57	0.47	0.33	0.51	0.42	0.46	0.52	0.59
ES	0.18	0.17	0.21	0.10		0.44	0.49	0.41	0.33	0.43	0.45	0.42	0.49	0.48
AT	-0.02	0.05	0.06	0.02	0.03		0.46	0.38	0.37	0.41	0.40	0.42	0.41	0.42
BE	0.08	0.11	0.13	0.08	0.08	0.05		0.42	0.34	0.46	0.44	0.47	0.49	0.49
FI	0.17	0.18	0.14	0.10	0.12	0.04	0.06		0.34	0.44	0.37	0.45	0.50	0.46
GR	0.14	0.13	0.12	0.15	0.12	0.07	0.12	0.06		0.37	0.37	0.34	0.36	0.33
IE	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.01	0.07	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.09		0.40	0.44	0.45	0.53
РТ	0.07	0.11	0.13	0.04	0.07	0.01	0.03	0.07	0.02	0.04		0.39	0.43	0.39
DK	0.06	0.11	0.04	0.09	0.07	0.01	0.05	0.06	0.09	0.02	0.04		0.46	0.44
SE	0.16	0.20	0.17	0.11	0.11	0.04	0.06	0.11	0.13	0.06	0.05	0.11		0.49
UK	0.17	0.20	0.22	0.09	0.16	0.08	0.14	0.10	0.13	0.00	0.09	0.10	0.14	
	Test for	the im	pact of	f the eu	iro									

Table 3: Probabilities of co-movements between returns on equity market indices across the upper (upper triangular portion) and lower (lower triangular portion) parts of the distribution over the pre-euro sample period

This table reports the probability of comovements for each country pair. The upper and lower triangular portion shows the average probabilities of comovements before the introduction of the euro for the upper and lower parts of the distribution, respectively. The equity indices refer to Germany (DE), France (FR), Italy (IT), the Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Austria (AT), Belgium, Finland (FI), Greece (GR), Ireland (IE), Portugal (PT), Denmark (DK), Sweden (SE) and the United Kingdom (UK).

												θ	∈ (0.05	,0.50)
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	AT	BE	FI	GR	IE	РТ	DK	SE	UK
DE		0.61	0.53	0.61	0.54	0.55	0.57	0.45	0.38	0.50	0.48	0.52	0.54	0.55
FR	0.54		0.52	0.59	0.57	0.48	0.56	0.44	0.35	0.48	0.46	0.45	0.50	0.56
IT	0.42	0.42		0.52	0.49	0.47	0.50	0.43	0.36	0.46	0.39	0.50	0.49	0.47
NL	0.54	0.53	0.44		0.56	0.52	0.59	0.50	0.36	0.51	0.49	0.49	0.57	0.63
ES	0.42	0.49	0.43	0.48		0.47	0.54	0.44	0.36	0.46	0.49	0.46	0.54	0.51
AT	0.46	0.42	0.39	0.43	0.42		0.50	0.43	0.41	0.44	0.47	0.46	0.47	0.47
BE	0.51	0.50	0.42	0.56	0.47	0.44		0.44	0.36	0.48	0.46	0.47	0.52	0.51
FI	0.41	0.40	0.39	0.46	0.41	0.35	0.43		0.39	0.43	0.39	0.45	0.50	0.47
GR	0.36	0.37	0.33	0.32	0.33	0.36	0.35	0.32]	0.40	0.39	0.35	0.37	0.35
IE	0.42	0.42	0.39	0.52	0.42	0.39	0.45	0.47	0.37		0.42	0.46	0.47	0.56
РТ	0.41	0.38	0.36	0.37	0.42	0.36	0.43	0.37	0.36	0.40		0.39	0.46	0.44
DK	0.47	0.42	0.42	0.45	0.41	0.39	0.47	0.46	0.35	0.43	0.42		0.51	0.46
SE	0.48	0.46	0.40	0.49	0.46	0.37	0.47	0.52	0.37	0.45	0.43	0.42		0.50
UK	0.46	0.50	0.42	0.56	0.47	0.40	0.48	0.46	0.33	0.53	0.37	0.43	0.50	
	$\theta \in (0, 0)$.50, 0.9	5)											

Working Paper Series No 906

Table 4: Tests for asymmetries in probabilities of comovements between returns on equity market indices over the pre-euro (upper triangular portion) and the euro sample periods (lower triangular portion) across the all quantile ranges

This table reports tests for asymmetries in the probability of comovements for each country pair. The upper and lower triangular portion shows whether there is more probability mass in the left or right parts of the distribution before and after the introduction of the euro, respectively. The test for asymmetries in probabilities of comovements over the pre-euro sample period is:

$$\hat{\xi} \equiv (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.05, 0.5]} \widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta} - (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.5, 0.95]} \widehat{\alpha}_{0,\theta}.$$

The test for asymmetries in probabilities of comovements over the euro sample period is:

$$\widehat{\delta}(0.05, 0.5) - \widehat{\delta}(0.5, 0.95) = (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.05, 0.5]} \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta} - (10)^{-1} \sum_{\theta \in [0.5, 0.95]} \widehat{\alpha}_{1,\theta}.$$

The equity indices refer to Germany (DE), France (FR), Italy (IT), the Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Austria (AT), Belgium, Finland (FI), Greece (GR), Ireland (IE), Portugal (PT), Denmark (DK), Sweden (SE) and the United Kingdom (UK).

											Pre-	euro sa	ample p	period
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	AT	BE	FI	GR	IE	РТ	DK	SE	UK
DE		0.08	0.12	0.08	0.13	0.11	0.07	0.04	0.02	0.08	0.08	0.05	0.07	0.10
FR	0.00		0.11	0.07	0.09	0.06	0.06	0.04	-0.02	0.07	0.09	0.03	0.05	0.07
IT	-0.03	-0.06		0.08	0.07	0.10	0.10	0.04	0.04	0.07	0.04	0.09	0.09	0.05
NL	0.03	0.05	0.00		0.09	0.10	0.03	0.04	0.04	-0.01	0.13	0.04	0.08	0.09
ES	-0.06	-0.03	-0.02	0.01		0.06	0.08	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.07	0.06	0.08	0.05
AT	0.03	0.05	0.00	0.01	-0.01		0.07	0.09	0.06	0.06	0.12	0.08	0.11	0.07
BE	0.06	0.05	-0.03	0.05	-0.03	0.04		0.01	0.01	0.03	0.04	0.00	0.05	0.03
FI	0.04	0.01	-0.03	0.01	-0.01	-0.05	0.04		0.08	-0.05	0.03	-0.01	-0.02	0.02
GR	0.03	0.08	0.02	0.04	-0.01	-0.01	0.08	-0.06		0.04	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.02
IE	0.01	0.03	0.03	0.13	0.04	0.01	0.07	0.08	0.05		0.01	0.03	0.03	0.04
РТ	-0.03	-0.02	0.04	0.00	0.02	-0.01	0.08	-0.01	0.05	0.08		-0.03	0.03	0.07
DK	0.07	0.05	0.00	0.05	0.01	0.05	0.09	0.06	0.11	0.03	0.14		0.10	0.03
SE	0.03	-0.02	-0.03	-0.03	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.05	0.07	0.06	0.01		0.00
UK	0.00	-0.02	-0.01	0.05	0.01	0.08	0.14	0.05	0.06	0.10	0.02	0.06	0.07	
	Euro s	ample	period											

Table 5: Probabilities of co-movements between returns on equity market indices over the pre-euro (upper triangular portion) and the euro sample periods (lower triangular portion) across different quantile ranges – Do global factors play a role?

This table reports the probability of comovements for each country pair. Panel A shows the average probability of comovements before the introduction of the euro. Panel B reports the changes in these probabilities due to the introduction (upper triangular portion) of the euro and the global fator (lower triangular portion), respectively. Changes significant at least at 5% confidence level are reported in bold. Average probabilities and test statistics are estimated across all quantile ranges, for $\theta \in (0.05, 0.95)$. The first sub-sample covers the pre-monetary union period (March 1987 to December 1998), while the second sub-sample covers the monetary union period (January 1999 to January 2008). The equity indices refer to Germany (DE), France (FR), Italy (IT), the Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES), Austria (AT), Belgium, Finland (FI), Greece (GR), Ireland (IE), Portugal (PT), Denmark (DK), Sweden (SE) and the United Kingdom (UK).

Panel	lA:Av	verage	probab	ilities a	of co-m	oveme	nts acr	oss the	whole	quant	ile rang	ges		
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	AT	BE	FI	GR	IE	РТ	DK	SE	UK
DE		0.56	0.44	0.55	0.45	0.49	0.50	0.41	0.34	0.43	0.42	0.47	0.48	0.49
FR			0.45	0.55	0.52	0.43	0.51	0.41	0.33	0.43	0.39	0.42	0.46	0.52
IT				0.46	0.44	0.41	0.43	0.39	0.31	0.39	0.35	0.42	0.43	0.42
NL					0.49	0.46	0.55	0.46	0.31	0.50	0.40	0.46	0.52	0.58
ES						0.43	0.48	0.41	0.34	0.42	0.44	0.41	0.49	0.47
AT							0.44	0.36	0.35	0.39	0.38	0.42	0.40	0.42
BE								0.41	0.32	0.45	0.42	0.46	0.48	0.48
FI									0.30	0.42	0.34	0.45	0.48	0.44
GR										0.35	0.34	0.32	0.35	0.32
IE											0.39	0.43	0.45	0.52
РТ												0.38	0.43	0.39
DK													0.45	0.42
SE														0.48

Panel B : Test for the impact of the euro and the global factor across the whole quantile ranges Test for the impact of the euro														
									~~~		<i>v</i>	· •	v	
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	AT	BE	FI	GR	IE	РТ	DK	SE	UK
DE		0.14	0.12	0.10	0.12	-0.08	-0.02	0.10	0.06	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.06	0.12
FR	0.07		0.20	0.17	0.12	0.01	0.04	0.16	0.07	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.12	0.19
IT	0.13	0.09		0.15	0.14	-0.01	0.05	0.10	0.01	-0.08	0.06	-0.04	0.11	0.18
NL	0.08	0.02	0.04		0.09	0.03	0.07	0.09	0.12	0.01	0.01	0.10	0.10	0.08
ES	0.09	0.06	0.11	0.05		0.02	0.05	0.12	0.11	0.04	0.07	0.04	0.12	0.11
AT	0.08	0.05	0.11	-0.02	0.03		0.03	0.09	0.03	0.07	0.01	0.1	-0.01	0.05
BE	0.15	0.10	0.13	0.04	0.06	0.04		0.02	0.08	0.05	-0.01	0.03	0.01	-0.01
FI	0.09	0.03	0.08	0.03	0.00	0.02	0.06		-0.06	-0.10	0.06	0.06	0.03	0.04
GR	0.12	0.10	0.17	0.06	0.01	0.03	0.09	0.19		0.03	-0.03	0.01	0.06	0.09
IE	0.08	0.05	0.21	0.02	0.05	-0.02	0.01	0.15	0.10		0.01	0.00	0.08	0.02
РТ	0.09	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.00	0.02	0.09	0.07	0.11	0.04		0.01	0.01	0.09
DK	0.05	0.08	0.12	0.00	0.04	-0.03	0.04	-0.01	0.12	0.04	0.05		0.11	0.03
SE	0.15	0.10	0.06	0.02	-0.03	0.09	0.07	0.12	0.09	-0.02	0.05	0.02		0.03
UK	0.06	0.00	0.07	0.02	0.05	0.03	0.09	0.11	0.04	0.12	-0.05	0.07	0.08	
1	Test fo	r the in	npact o	f the gi	lobal fo	actor						•		

 Table 5: Continued

# Table 6: Tests for differences in probabilities of comovements over the pre-euro and the euro sample periods – A sectoral analysis

This table reports the changes in the probabilities of comovement after the introduction of the euro (upper triangular portion) and controlling for the global factor (lower triangular portion). The analysis is carried with a sectoral breakdown. Test statistics are estimated across all quantile ranges, for  $\theta \in (0.05, 0.95)$ . The first sub-sample covers the pre-monetary union period (March 1987 to December 1998), while the second sub-sample covers the monetary union period (January 1999 to January 2008). Statistics significant at least at the 5% confidence level are reported in bold. The equity indices refer to Germany (DE), France (FR), Italy (IT), the Netherlands (NL), Spain (ES) and the United Kingdom (UK).

пу (11	L), th	le mei	tneria	nas	$(\mathbf{NL}),$	Spai	n (E	(S) and	1 the	Unit	ea ni	ingao	m (t			
Indus	trial se	ector						Construction and Materials sector Test for the impact of the euro								
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	euro					Test f	or the	impac	t of the	euro			
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	UK		DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	UK			
DE		0.07	0.06	0.16	0.06	0.14			0.04	0.11	0.02	0.04	0.08			
FR	0.03		0.12	0.12	0.06	0.15		0.10		0.12	0.03	0.08	0.03			
IT	0.09	0.06		0.11	-0.01	0.09		0.05	0.07		0.02	0.02	0.11			
NL	-0.03	0.06	0.15		0.07	0.10		0.00	-0.02	0.08		0.00	0.00			
ES	0.03	0.03	0.14	0.02		0.02	ļ	0.08	0.05	0.09	0.06		0.02			
UK	0.03	0.02	0.10	0.07	0.08			0.02	0.07	0.01	-0.01	0.09				
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	global	factor		Test for	r the in	npact o	of the g	global f	actor				
Indus	trial G	oods a	nd Ser	vices s	ector					Fina	ncial s	ector				
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	euro					Test f	or the	impac	t of the	euro			
DE		0.09	0.06	0.09	0.06	0.14			0.07	0.13	0.09	0.14	0.09			
FR	0.06		0.11	0.14	0.05	0.13		0.13		0.15	0.19	0.09	0.14			
IT	0.04	0.10		0.10	0.03	0.05		0.09	0.12		0.13	0.11	0.18			
NL	0.04	0.06	0.10		0.10	0.11		0.06	0.03	0.05		0.10	0.12			
ES	0.04	0.04	0.14	0.10		0.06	ļ	0.08	0.12	0.14	0.02		0.11			
UK	0.00	0.04	0.09	0.06	0.02			0.05	0.03	0.04	-0.01	0.07				
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	global	l factor			Test for	r the in	npact o	of the g	global f	actor			
Consu	ımer G	loods s	ector								Autom	obile s	ector			
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	euro					Test f	or the	impac	t of the	euro			
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	UK		DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	UK			
DE		0.06	0.06	0.01	-0.01	0.09			0.06	0.03		-0.07	0.08			
FR	0.09		0.08	0.06	-0.02	0.02		0.10		0.05		-0.04	-0.01			
IT	0.14	0.06		0.03	-0.03	0.07		0.08	0.04			-0.05	0.04			
NL	0.05	0.02	0.06		-0.04	0.02										
ES	0.11	0.11	0.14	0.04		0.02		0.08	0.02	0.07			-0.04			
UK	0.05	0.12	0.05	0.02	0.02			0.05	0.10	0.02		0.06				
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	global	factor			Test for	r the in	npact o	of the g	global f	actor			
Food	and Be	everage	es secto	or				Person	al and	House	ehold (	Goods s	ector			
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	euro					Test f	or the	impac	t of the	euro			
DE		-0.04	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.03			0.01	0.03	0.00	0.04	0.00			
FR	0.03		0.01	0.09	0.02	0.07		0.07		0.08	0.04	-0.03	-0.02			
IT	0.01	0.03		0.04	-0.01	0.01		0.07	0.03		0.03	-0.05	-0.03			
NL	-0.06	-0.06	-0.04		-0.05	0.07		0.08	-0.02	0.08		-0.02	-0.04			
ES	0.04	0.04	0.06	-0.02		-0.02	ļ	0.01	0.00	0.04	0.01		0.04			
UK	-0.04	-0.08	0.00	-0.11	-0.04			0.04	0.03	0.08	0.01	0.06				
Test f	or the	impact	of the	globa	l factor			Test fo	r the in	npact o	of the g	global f	factor			
Consu	ımer S	ervices	sector	•							H	ealth s	ector			
Test fe	or the i	impact	of the	euro						or the		t of the	euro			
	DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	UK		DE	FR	IT	NL	ES	UK			
DE		0.11	0.12	0.06	0.13	0.16			0.01	0.03	0.00	0.03	0.04			
FR	0.03		0.18	0.13	0.13	0.19		0.03		0.01	0.02	-0.02	0.04			
IT	0.03	0.00		0.14	0.16	0.19		0.11	0.05		0.01	0.01	0.03			
NL	0.09	0.00	0.06		0.08	0.10		-0.02	-0.02	0.04		-0.02	-0.08			
ES	0.05	0.01	-0.04	0.02		0.14		-0.02	-0.04	0.05	0.03		-0.04			
UK	-0.02	0.00	-0.01	0.01	-0.01			0.05	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.03				
Test f	or the	impact	of the	globa	l factor			Test fo	r the in	npact o	of the g	global f	factor			

#### **European Central Bank Working Paper Series**

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.europa.eu).

- 877 "What are the effects of fiscal policy shocks? A VAR-based comparative analysis" by D. Caldara and C. Kamps, March 2008.
- 878 "Nominal and real interest rates during an optimal disinflation in New Keynesian models" by M. Hagedorn, March 2008.
- 879 "Government risk premiums in the bond market: EMU and Canada" by L. Schuknecht, J. von Hagen and G. Wolswijk, March 2008.
- 880 "On policy interactions among nations: when do cooperation and commitment matter?" by H. Kempf and L. von Thadden, March 2008.
- 881 "Imperfect predictability and mutual fund dynamics: how managers use predictors in changing systematic risk" by G. Amisano and R. Savona, March 2008.
- 882 "Forecasting world trade: direct versus "bottom-up" approaches" by M. Burgert and S. Dées, March 2008.
- 883 "Assessing the benefits of international portfolio diversification in bonds and stocks" by R. A. De Santis and L. Sarno, March 2008.
- 884 "A quantitative perspective on optimal monetary policy cooperation between the US and the euro area" by S. Adjemian, M. Darracq Pariès and F. Smets, March 2008.
- 885 "Impact of bank competition on the interest rate pass-through in the euro area" by M. van Leuvensteijn, C. Kok Sørensen, J. A. Bikker and A. A. R. J. M. van Rixtel, March 2008.
- 886 "International evidence on sticky consumption growth" by C. D. Carroll, J. Slacalek and M. Sommer, March 2008.
- 887 "Labor supply after transition: evidence from the Czech Republic" by A. Bičáková, J. Slacalek and M. Slavík, March 2008.
- 888 "House prices, money, credit and the macroeconomy" by C. Goodhart and B. Hofmann, April 2008.
- 889 "Credit and the natural rate of interest" by F. De Fiore and O. Tristani, April 2008.
- 890 "Globalisation, domestic inflation and global output gaps: evidence from the euro area" by A. Calza, April 2008.
- 891 "House prices and the stance of monetary policy" by M. Jarociński and F. Smets, April 2008.
- "Identification of New Keynesian Phillips Curves from a global perspective" by S. Dées, M. H. Pesaran,
   L. V. Smith and R. P. Smith, April 2008.
- 893 "Sticky wages: evidence from quarterly microeconomic data" by T. Heckel, H. Le Bihan and M. Montornès, May 2008.
- 894 "The role of country-specific trade and survey data in forecasting euro area manufacturing production: perspective from large panel factor models" by M. Darracq Pariès and L. Maurin, May 2008.
- 895 "On the empirical evidence of the intertemporal current account model for the euro area countries" by M. Ca'Zorzi and M. Rubaszek, May 2008.

- 896 "The Maastricht convergence criteria and optimal monetary policy for the EMU accession countries" by A. Lipińska, May 2008.
- 897 "DSGE-modelling when agents are imperfectly informed" by P. De Grauwe, May 2008.
- 898 "Central bank communication and monetary policy: a survey of theory and evidence" by A. S. Blinder, M. Ehrmann, M. Fratzscher, J. De Haan and D.-J. Jansen, May 2008.
- 899 "Robust monetary rules under unstructured and structured model uncertainty" by P. Levine and J. Pearlman, May 2008.
- 900 "Forecasting inflation and tracking monetary policy in the euro area: does national information help?" by R. Cristadoro, F. Venditti and G. Saporito, May 2008.
- 901 "The usefulness of infra-annual government cash budgetary data for fiscal forecasting in the euro area" by L. Onorante, D. J. Pedregal, J. J. Pérez and S. Signorini, May 2008.
- 902 "Fiscal consolidation in the euro area: long-run benefits and short-run costs" by G. Coenen, M. Mohr and R. Straub, May 2008.
- 903 "A robust criterion for determining the number of static factors in approximate factor models" by L. Alessi, M. Barigozzi and M. Capasso, May 2008.
- 904 "Does money matter in the IS curve? The case of the UK" by B. E. Jones and L. Stracca, June 2008.
- 905 "A persistence-weighted measure of core inflation in the euro area" by L. Bilke and L. Stracca, June 2008.
- 906 "The impact of the euro on equity markets: a country and sector decomposition" by L. Cappiello, A. Kadareja and S. Manganelli, June 2008.

